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To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, Pennsylvania

Report on Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Lebanon, Lebanon, Pennsylvania,
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements,
which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Resgonsibiiity for the Financial Sfdtements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this
includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Audifing
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit fo obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures
in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting polices used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our audit opinions.

BARBACANE
THORNION
- &COMPANY

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
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To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Lebanon

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the City of Lebanon, Lebanon, Pennsylvania, as of December 31, 2013,
and the respective changes in ifs financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof, and
the respective budgetary comparison for the General Fund for the year then ended in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited the City of Lebanon’s 2012 financial statements, and we expressed
unmodified opinions on the respective financial statements of the governmental activities, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information in our report dated September 26, 2013. In our
opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the year ended
December 31, 2012 is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from
which it has been derived.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounfing principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
management’s discussion and analysis ‘on pages 4 to 21 and the schedule of funding progress -
pension plans, schedule of employer contributions - pension plans, post-employment benefits -
schedule of funding progress and post-employment benefits - schedule of annual employer cost, and
notes to required supplementary information on pages 64 to 67 be presented to supplement the
basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is
required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part
of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the
basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the
information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an
opinion or provide any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Lebanon’s basic financial statements. The combining fiduciary fund
financial statements are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of
the basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for
purposes of additional analysis, as required by U.S, Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133,
‘Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations,” and is also not a required part of
the basic financial statements.



To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Lebanon

The combining fiduciary fund financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal
awards are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the combining fiduciary fund financial statements and the schedule of expenditures of
federal awards are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as
a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Stondards

In accordance with Government Audifing Standards, we have also issued our report dated August 26,

2014 on our consideration of the City of Lebanon’s internal control over financial reporting and on our

tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements

and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control

over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion

on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of -
an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of

Lebanon’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Ondncane Thawts, #Copuy LLP

BARBACANE, THORNTON & COMPANY LLP
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CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED
- DECEMBER 31, 2013

This section of the City of Lebanon’s annual financial report presents a narrative overview and analysis
of the City's performance for the year ended December 31, 2013. Please read it in conjunction with
the City’'s accompanying financial statements, including the note disclosures that follow, in order to
obtain a thorough understanding of the City’s financial condition as of December 31, 2013.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

A counfy-widel reassessment was completed in 2012. The tax base was equalized and
brought to current market value; the City’s tax millage was subsequently lowered to 3.581 from
25 mills in 2013 in order to achieve a revenue neutral effect.

The City created a Capital Reserve Fund in 2013 and transferred $67,622 from the General
Fund fo reserve for public safety and public works equipment andjfor vehicles.

The construction commenced on the railroad overpass bridges on Ninth and Tenth Streets in
May of 2011. As of December 31, 2013, the project was about 99 percent complete and the
assets placed in service.

The City Council authorized the issuance of a tax and revenue anticipation note in the amount
of $1,000,000 and drew down $50,000 against the authorized amount. The note was paid off
in December 2013 as required.

The City’s long- term debt decreased from $260,000 fo $215,000 as of December 31, 2013.

The City continues to monitor its tighter fiscal controls placed into effect in 2011. This can be
substantiated by improved actual fo budget numbers. '

Regarding our financial stability, in 2009 and 2010, the City experienced general fund
deficits. The City would have experienced deficits in 2006, 2007, and 2008; however, one-
time supplemental income was utilized o balance the budgets. In 2011, which represented
the first budget that the Capello Administration created and administered, the City did not
experience a General Fund deficit. The City also did not experience a deficit in 2012 and
2013.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This report consists of the following four parts:

Management's discussion and analysis (this section)
Basic financial statements (including note disclosures)
Required supplementary information

Supplementary information



CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT'D)
: DECEMBER 31, 2013

The management’s discussion and analysis is a guide to reading the financial statements and
provides related information to help the reader to better understand the City’s government. The basic
financial statements include notes that provide additional information essential to a full understanding
of the financial data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. Required
supplementary information includes data about the City’s pension pians and other post-employment
benefits. Supplementary information presents combining statements for the pension trust funds that
support the basic financial statements.

The basic financial statements present two different views of the City.

e Government-wide financial statements - The first two statements provide information about
the City as a whole using accounting methods similar to those used by private-sector
companies.

» Fund financial statements - The remaining statements focus on individual parts of the City's
government. They provide more detail on operations than the government-wide statements.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The government-wide financial statements include the following two statements:

¢ The statement of net position includes all of the City's assets, deferred ouiflows of resources,
liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources, except fiduciary funds, with the difference
between them reported as net position. This statement serves a purpose similar to that of the
balance sheet of a private-sector business.

* The statement of activities focuses on how the City’s net position changed during the year.
Because it separates program revenue (revenue generated by specific programs through
charges for services, grants, and contributions) from general revenue (revenue provided by
taxes and other sources not tied to a particular program), it shows to what extent each
program has to rely on local taxes for funding.

All changes to net position are reported using the accrual method of accounting, which requires that
revenues be reported when they are eamned and expenses be reported when the goods and/or
services are received, regardless of when cash is received or paid.

Net position is one way to measure the City’s financial position. Over time, increases or decreases in
the City’s net position indicate whether the City’s financial position is improving or deteriorating.
However, other non-financial factors such as changes in the City’s real property tax base and general
economic conditions must be considered to assess the overall position of the City.

Net position of the governmental activities differ from the govermmental fund balances because
governmental fund level statements only report transactions using or providing current financial
resources. In governmental fund statements, capital assets are reporled as expenditures when
financial resources are expended to purchase or build assets. Likewise, the financial resources that
may have been borrowed are considered revenue when they are received. Principal and interest
payments are both considered expenditures when paid. Depreciation is not calculated for the fund
statements, as it does not provide or reduce current financial resources.
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CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
DECEMBER 31, 2013

Government-wide statements are reported using an economic resources measurement focus and full
accrual basis of accounting that involves the following steps to compile the statement of net position:

Capitalize current outlays for capital assets
Report long-term debt as a liability
Depreciate capital assets and aliocate the depreciation to the proper program/activities

Calculate revenue and expenses using the economic resources measurement focus and the
accrual basis of accounting

Allocate net position balances as follows:

- Net investment in capital assets

- Restiicted net position — assets with constraints placed on their use by external sources
(creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of governments) or imposed by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation ' '

- Unrestricted net position — resources that do not meet any of the above definitions

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fund financial statemenis provide more detailed information on the City’s most significant funds, not
the City as a whole. Funds are groups of related accounts that the City uses to keep track of specific
sources of funding and spending for paricular purposes. Some funds are required by state law.
Other funds are established to control and manage resources designated for specific purposes. Fund
financial statements are reported.using current financial resources and modified accrual accounting
established by the Government Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) for governments.

There are three types of fund financial statements:

Govermmental fund statements provide a detailled short-term view that helps determine
whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to
finance the City's programs. The relationship between governmental activities and the
governmental funds is described in a reconciliation that follows the fund financial statements.

Proprietary fund statements offer short-term and long-term financial information about the
activities the City operates as a business. The City utilizes an internal service fund o account
for the financing of health and dental insurance costs which are being incurred by the City's
departments.

Fiduciary fund statements reflect activities involving resources that are held by the City as a
trustee or agent for the benefit of others. The City’s pension plans are included as fiduciary
funds because the City acts as the fiduciary and is responsible for ensuring that the assets
reported are used for their-intended purposes. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the
government-wide statements because the resources cannot be used to support the City's
programs,
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CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
DECEMBER 31, 2013

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The statement of net position provides a year-end summary of the City’s asset, liability, deferred
categories, and the net differences. As of December 31, 2013, the City’s total assets exceeded fotal
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources by $53,283,903. Key components of this change are
summarized in Table A-1.

Table A-1 Condensed Statement of Net Position

Governmental Activities Percentage
2013 2012 Change

Assets N
Current and Other Assets $ 12,525,928 $ 14,406,810 -13.06%
Capital Assets 55,056,055 50,255,379 9.55%
Total Assets 67,581,983 64,662,189 4.52%
Liabilities ‘
Long-term Liabilities 8,274,088 7,113,129 16.32%
Other Liabilities 2,379,551 3,853,455 -38.25%
Total Liabilities 10,653,639 10,966,584 -2.85%
Deferred Inflows of Resources 3,644,441 3,622,051 0.62%
Net Position
Net Investment in Capital Assets 54,841,055 49,995,379 9.69%
Restricted 1,238,717 1,156,299 7.13%
Unrestricted (Deficit) (2,795,869) (1,078,124) -159.33%
Total Net Position - $ 53,283,903 $ 50,073,554 6.41%

The City's assets totaled $67,581,983 at December 31, 2013. Of this amount, capital assets, including
infrastructure and construction-in-progress, totaled $55,056,055, and current and other assets totaled
$12,525,928.

Capital assets incredsed $4,800,676 over the balance at December 31, 2012. This increase is due fo
the placement in service of the City's bridge project, $5,458,421; the addition of one new and two
used police vehicles, $71,116; the addition of construction-in-progress for projects at Coleman



[T

CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
DECEMBER 31, 2013

Memorial Park and Stoever's Dam Park, $666,043; the sale at auction of various vehicles and highway
equipment, $(201,568); the conversion of the boiler, from heating oil to natural gas, at two of the City's
fire stations, $14,131; offset by net change in accumulated depreciation, $(1,207,467). The City
placed the 10th Street Bridge In service on August 27, 2013; thereby moving the prior year
construction cost for the bridge of $9,819,823 from construction-in-progress to capital assets being
depreciated. The City’s net investment in capital assets totaled $54,841,055 at December 31, 2013.

Current and other assets decreased $(1,880,882) over the balance at December 31, 2012. This
decrease is due fo an increase in accounts receivable of $643,404; decrease in current receivables
for payments received for EIT, LST, and property taxes, ($308,332); a decrease in grant receivables of
$(1,002,939) primarily related to the Partridge Street project, the bridge project, and the Safe
Sidewalks project; a decrease in cash and cash equivalents of §(1,151 ,310); a decrease in prepaid
expenses of $(68,145); and an increase in other miscelianeous assets such as loans and inventory of
$6,440.

Liabllities and deferred inflows of resources totaled $14,298,080 as of December 31, 2013. The long-
term liabilities line item includes the long-term portion of a note payable, $170,000; compensated
absences, $47,406; and other post-employment liabilities, $8,056,682. The other Habilities line item
includes accounts payable, $1,287,631; the shori-term portion of a note payable, $45,000; accrued
expenses, customer deposits, and accrued health benefits, $1,046,920.

Other liabilities and deferred inflows of resources decreased ($1,451,514) which represents a
decrease in accounts payable of $(1,786,105) primarily related fo the bridge project; an increase In
other liabilities, $237,371 primarily related to the internal service fund; an increase in deferred inflows
$22,390; and an increase in other deposits and accrued expenses of $74,830.

Long-term liabilities increased $1,160,959, which represents an increase in other post-employment
benefits of $1,202,335; a decrease in long-term notes payable of $(45,000); and an increase in
compensated absences of $3,624.

In 2008, the City adopted the provisions of GASB Statement No. 45, ‘“Accounting and Financial
Reporting by Employers for Post-employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)" and recorded an
initial OPEB liability of $1,330,983. OPEB liabilities of $1,273,002, $1,551,398, $1,469,541, $1,229,423,
and $1,202,335 were added in 2009, 2010, 2011, 2012, and 2013, respectively. :

Restricted net position is reported to the extent that It is subject to a legally enforceable restriction on
its use. As a result of recording the OPEB non-operating liability detailed in the preceding paragraph,
unrestricted net position was ($2,795,869) as of December 31, 2013. This unrestricted net position
deficit was created because the City has long-term liabilities that are funded on a pay-as-you-go
basis, appropriating resources each year as payments come due, rather than accumulating assets in
advance.

The following statement of activities represents changes in net position for the year ended December
31, 2013. It shows revenues by source and expenses by function for governmental activities.
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CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
DECEMBER 31, 2013

Table A-2 Change in Net Position

Governmental Activities Percentage
2013 2012 Change
Revenues
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services 616,007 $ 1,089,076 -43.44%
Operating Grants and Contributions 3,866,210 4,040,494 -4.31%
Capital Grants and Contributions 5,451,001 11,812,188 -53.85%
General Revenues: ‘ :
Real Estate Taxes - General Levy 3,067,867 3,016,506 1.70%
Real Estate Transfer Taxes 125,298 239,973 -47.79%
Earned Income Tax 4,090,817 5,776,669 -29.18%
Local Services Tax 414,806 390,144 6.32%
Franchise Taxes 286,052 270,270 5.84%
Fines and Forfeitures 504,320 529,068 -4.68%
Mechanical Device Tax 5,916 7,845 -24.59%
Intergovernmental Revenues - 164,978 140,898 9.99%
not program restricted
Interest, Investment Earnings, and ,

Royalties 121,435 144,859 -16.17%
Gain from Asset Disposal 17,503 o= 100.00%
Miscellaneous 99,935 84,973 17.61%

Total Revenues 18,822,235 27,542,963 -31.66%
Expenses
General Governmental 2,017,066 1,620,444 24.48%
Public Safety 9,699,294 9,378,648 3.42%
Public Works 1,952,360 2,706,876 -27.87%
Culture and Recreation 449,332 485,212 -7.39%
Economic Development 1,477,028 1,337,719 10.41%
Debt Service 16,806 18,315 -8.24%
Total Expenses 15,611,886 15,547,214 0.42%
Increase in Net Position 3,210,349 11,995,749 -73.24%
Net Position - Beginning of Year 50,073,554 38,077,805 31.50%
Net Position - End of Year $ 53,283.903 $ 50,073,554 6.41%

REVENUES

In 2013, government-wide revenues of $18,822,235 came

$7,990,756, and capital grants and contributions of $5,451,091.
$1,710,651, lower than in 2012 primarily due fo the decrease in earned income
which $§(1,252,639) is related to the recognition of a receivable
earmed income tax revenues from the period of 2004 - 2007;
mechanical device taxes, $(116,604

primarily from tax revenue fotaling
Tax revenues were 17.63 percent, or
tax, $(1,685,852), of
» in 2012, for payment of underpaid
decreases in real estate transfer and
); offset by increases in franchise tax, $15,782; and property and

local service taxes, $76,023. Capital grants and contributions decreased $6,361,097 from 2012 due
to the completion of construction of the bridges on Ninth and Tenth streets.
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N " CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
DECEMBER 31, 2013

- Charges for services decreased in 2013 as compared: to- 2012 by. $(473 069] from a decrease in net

income from the Internal Service Fund, $(475, 067); .an increase in rental property licenses of $8,408; a
decrease in traffic and meter fines of $(24 828); a decrease in building permits of $(16, 632) and .an

- net increase in all other Ircenses permrrs and. charges for services:of $35 050.

o Operahng grants and contrrbuhons decreased $(1 74 284] in: 2013 Qs compared to 2012. Incredses
.. in"grant receipts; such as the Coleman Memorial Park renovanon $601 980; .and.the Partridge Street

Project, $277,013 -were -offset by .decreases in .the CDBG grant” program of $(162,226); the

- Neighborhood Stabilization: Program of $(197, 774] the Safe Sidewalks program $[644 319); and-all
- other grant programs of $(48 958] . ,

Inrergovernmental revenues . - nor program restricted - now repreSenis law enforcemeni grant

-~ reimbursements as well as: payments to the City in'lieu of taxes from tax exempt property holders and
_other- miscellaneous relmbursements The state pensron ard ‘was reclassed fo operahng grants in
' 20]2 : - , A

Mrscellaneous revenue mcreased $14, 962 |n 2013 as* compared to 2012 due to-a reduction; in:

- .refund-of prior. year expenditures of $(22,500); an increase from:the fundraising efforts fo purchase a-
- new polrce dog $55 684, and a net reduc’non in other mrscellaneous revenues of $(18, 222)

Im‘erest and ren'r revenue decreased $(23 424) in 2013 as compared fo 2012 due toa decrease in

income from program loans, $(3,100); a decrease in rental revenue due to the expiration of the lease -
of offrce space 1o County Reassessment, $(12, 128) and the decrease in other revenue of $(8, 196)

The following: chart graphlcally deprc’rs the governmem‘-wrde revenue sources for 'rhe frscal years
ended December 31, 2013 and December 31,2012:

5% . 7 . Grants

26%:

Cap |.
" Grants| P v Cap
29% Taxes: L “Grants
] 11% - . 43%

16%
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CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
'DECEMBER 31, 2013

EXPENSES

Total expenses for aji programs in 2013 were $15,611,886. The expenses cover a range of services,
with the largest being public safety at $9,699,294 or 62.13 percent. The second largest program ared
was general government at $2,017,066 or 12.92 percent. Public works, culture and recreation,
economic development, and debt service made up the remaining 24.95 percent of tofal expenses.

General government expenses increased $396,622 in 2013, as compared to 2012, due to an
increase in depreciation expense, $398,067, primarily from the addition of the Tenth Street Bridge to
capital assets; a decrease in contracted services, mainly due to an expense in 2012 for an early
intervention plan, $(25,450); and a net increase in other general expenses of $24,005.

Economic development expenses increased $139,309 in 2013, as compared to 2012, due to
additional projects of the Neighborhood Stabilization Program, $26,349; a reduction in the expenses
of the CDBG program, $(192,842); additional expenses of the Pariridge Street Project, $297,497: and
other development projects of $8,305.

Public Safety expenses increased $320,646 in 2013, as compared to 2012, due to the increase in
overall police expenses due primarily to an increase in salaries and benefits, $191,648; an increase in
overall fire expenses due primarily to an increase in salaries and benefits, as well as building
maintenance, $51,888; an increase in the pension funding for police and fire, $152,219; an increase
in expenses related to zoning, $17,863; a net decrease in capital improvements for the acquisition
and disposal of police vehicles, $(39,609); a decrease in net depreciation, $(47,363); and a
decrease in other expenses of $(6,000).

Culture and recreation expenses decreased $(35,880) in 2013, as compared fo 2012, due fo the
capitalization of a renovation project at Coleman Memorial Park, $(58,941); and in increase in various
other improvements at the parks throughout the City, $23,061.

Public works expenses decreased $(754,516) in 2013, as compared to 2012, due o the completion of
the Safe Sidewalk Program in 2012, $(644,319); the increase in expenses related to projects from the
CDBG program, $43,962; the capitalization of the Tenth Street Bridge, $92,412; a decrease in Liquid
Fuels projects, $(64,501); a decrease in general services, mainly due to an expense in 2012 for EPA
fines of $21,600, $(27,958); a decrease in contracted services for traffic control, $(22,101); a
decrease in highway maintenance due fo both an expense in 2012 for flood control costs and a
vacant maintenance position, $(78,450); and a net decrease in other expenses of $(53,561).

The following chart graphicailly depicts the government-wide program expenses for the fiscal years
ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012:

-11-
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CITY OF LEBANON .
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION 'AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
DECEMBER 31,2013

: 2613'Governrnent'-widéf. . 2012 Government-wide

Program Expenses L - |- "Program Expenses
. Economic. | | »
Economlc ) C . v
, S Culture & - Devp - interest - General
D ngerest |  Rec ~ 9% . 0% 7 Govt
Culture & - 9%. ) 0% General . ec SR 10%

Rec 3%

3% .

—— Govt
- 13% -

- Public.

‘Public -~ Y ) i )
‘Works Y - ' Works i
L RS public C17% L . Public

- 62%. 1 61% -

Net Program Expenses -

Net pfogrdm expenses’ indicate - the cmeun’r of supporf required 'frbrh ‘taxes and - other general

revenues for programs: of the governmen'r The following table depicts: 1he net program expenses. for
the year ended December 31,2013.

’ Net Cost of Governmental Achviﬂes :

»Qpereting - 1 .Net'»'

Total Cost ~ .~ Charges = - Grantsand . ‘Operating Cost’ Capital " Net Cost
_ of Services for Services - _Contributions = of Services ~ Grants _of Services
Program: _ - Sl : S : o o o
General Government : $ 2 017,066 - -$ . (15,000)  $ (19,995) % 1,981,981 § - - § 1,981,981
Public Safety = o 9,699,294 - _ (370,803) - (731,901)- - 8,596,590 - -~ 8,596,590
Public Works -~ 1,052,360  (202,721) (1,024,931) - .- 724,708 (5451,001) (4,726,383
Culture and Recreation” - : - 449,332 - - - - (27,393) (806,723) -(384,784) - - - - (384,784)
Economic Development - o 1 477,028 : - (1,282,660) - 194,368 - 194,368
Debt Service , f 16,806 ' - - 16,806 - 16,806
Total Expenses : S $ 15 611886 - §° (616,007) - $ (3,866,210)  $ 11,120,669 - § (5,451,091) - §. 5,678,578

The City telied on real estate taxes, eamed income taxes; and other general revenu'es or $8,888,927

" o fund almost 56.9- petcent of its governmental activitiesin 2071 3 Taxes of $7 990 756 accounted for-
89 9 percen’r of genercl revenues ln 201 3. ‘
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CITY OF LEBANON
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
DECEMBER 31, 2013

FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

As discussed above, the fund financial statements provide more detailed information about the City's
most significant funds. The focus of governmental funds is to provide information on near-term infiows,
outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City’s
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of the
City's net resources available for spending at the end of the year.

The City’s governmental funds include the general fund, special revenue funds, a permanent fund,
and the debt service fund. The general fund is the main operating fund of the City. Special revenue
funds are established around one or more revenue sources that are restricted or commitied to
purposes other than capital projects or debt service. The permanent fund is used to report resources
that are legally restricted to the extent that only earnings, and not principal, may be used for
purposes that support the City’s programs. The debt service fund accounts for the City’s payments of
its obligations related to general long-term debt.

The City's major funds are shown on the statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund
balances in the financial statements. Major funds are established by specific criteria contained in
GASB Statement No. 34 or they can be selected as major at management's request. Non-maijor funds
are combined into one column and presented in total.

Governmental Fund Revenues

Governmental fund revenues and other financing sources at December 31, 2013 and December 31,
2012 were as follows:

Changes from
2013 2012 2012 to 2013

Revenues:
Taxes $ 8,056,104 $ 8,311,872 $ (255,768)
Intergovernmental 9,472,280 15,993,580 (6,521,300)
Charges for Services 695,278 605,371 (10,093)
Licenses and Permits 534,503 506,631 27,872
Fines and Forfeitures 504,320 529,068 (24,748)
Interest and Rents 121,435 144,859 (23,424)
Miscellaneous 99,935 84,973 14,962
Sale of Capital Assets 18,128 - 18,128
Proceeds of Long-term Debt 50,000 50,000 -
Transfers In 187,332 142,510 44,822

Total Revenues $ 19,639,315 $ 26,368,864 $ (6,729,549)

The variances in the fund financial statements are materially the same as the variances in the
government-wide financial statemenis. Please see page 10 for the variance analysis for government-
wide financial statements.

The variance in the fund tax revenue, $(255,768) differs from the variance in the government tax

revenue, $(1,710,651) primarily due to the recognition of a receivable in 2012 ($1,252,639) for
underpaid EIT in the government statements.
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2013 Governmental Fund

Revenue Sources

Co, - :Saleof :
-Fines - Assets .Transfers .
3% ' ’

0%

' Taxes
- A1%

: Interest . : 1%
1%

Intergovt - rense

47%.

3%

2012 -Governmental Fund
Revenue Sources

Interest‘ 24’
1% C -

Frnes

Intergovt -

60%-

'Saleof

Transfers
“-in
1%

Taxes
32%

Chg for
Services
2%

\Misc-

0%

The variance in the charges for services differs due to the inclusion in the government statements of.
the net mcome from the Health Benefit Fund, which is not rncluded in 'rhe fund statemenr

‘The. variance in the rransfers |n caiegory is due to’ 'rhe fundrng, in’ 201 3, of the Capltal Reserve Fund in

the amount of $40 622. The Capital Reserve Fund:has been creatfed to: allow the Cliy to reserve funds

“for the purchase of publlc works and publlc safefy vehicles and- equment

The chart above graphlcally deprcfs the governmen’ral funds revenue. sources for 1he fISCCIl years'v
ended December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, .

: Governmenial Fund Expendliures

201 2\ were as follows

' Expendltures

. General Government  ~ . $
Public Safety. -
Public Works
.Culture and Recreation
Economic Development
- -Debt Service
" Miscellaneous
- Transfers Out:

Total Expenditures

2013 .
833,279

8,370,179
7,155,764
1,036,682

1,450,554
111,315

343,964

187,332

-14-

2012

$ 846,500
7,956,857

14,’263,777 ,

427,147
1,316,884
107,226 -

392,554

142,510-

_M.QAB&SE_& » 825453464

: Governmenral fund expendrtures and oiher financing uses at December 31 2013 and December 31 ,

Changes from
2012 102013

$  (13230)
413322

(7,108,013)
609,535
133,670
4,089

' (48,590)

44822

£ (5.064.305)
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_ Publrc N - Transfers - out
~ . Works ~ .. Misc: /" — : ‘ ’
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‘ ' CITY OF LEBANON -
MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT'D)
: . DECEMBER 31, 2013

T'he; vcrridnces in the-exbend'iiures-'ins: fund findncidl' statements differ from 1he:.varidnces ‘in-the
government-wide financial statements due to elimination .of depreciation and other non-cash accrual
items, Pledse see pdge 12 for the variance analysis for governmenf-wide financial statements.

The .variance iin- Publrc Works is prrmdrrly due to the decrease in construchon _Costs for the bridge on
Ninth and Tenth Streets; $(6,358 ,578);-a decrease due to the completion of the Safe Sidewalks
program, .$(644,319); an increase in CDBG 'program |mprovements $43,962; a decrease in - the.
expenditures of ' the - Liquid Fuels Fund $(64 501); dnd a decredse in generdl publrc works

: expendriures $(84 57 7).

'The variance in economrc developmem‘ is due to the development of fhe Portndge Street Project,
© $297,497; a decrease in‘the. CDBG program expenses, $(192,842);-an increase in-the Neighborhood
- Stabilization. Program, - $26,349; an- increase in the HOME program expenses, $30, 688, and a

decrease in the EIm Street progrdm expenses $(28, 022)

The variance in. culture dnd recredrron is due to 1he renovation: prorect at Colemcrn Memorrdl Park,

:$598 631; dnd an mcrease |n other expenses of $10, 904

The foIIowrng chdrt gl’dpthCllly depicts the governmentdl funds expendltures for the frsccrl yedrsii

' ‘_ .ended December 31 2013 dnd December 31, 2012

2013 Governmental Fund o | 2012 chernrnental Fund
Expendrtures o “Econ Expendrtures

nEcon

, :D?'Yp: NG Debt _ ‘General General
7% /—/ % Govt o h Govt
Culture & - : 1% Culture & 3%
Rec

Rec Public

-15-



i

[,
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CITY OF LEBANON
SION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)

DECEMBER 31, 2013

General Fund Revenues and Expenditures

Budget to Actual Comparison

2013 2013 2013

Actual Budget Variance % Variance

REVENUES ,
Taxes $ 8,056,104 $ 7,720,169 335,935 4.35%
Intergovernmental 970,404 861,270 109,134 12.67%
Other Revenue 1,693,130 1,561,508 131,622 8.43%
Total Revenues $ 10,719,638 $ 10,142,047 576,691 5.69%

EXPENDITURES

General Government $ 833,279 $ 869,998 36,719 4.22%
Public Safety 8,303,527 8,485,903 182,376 2.15%
Public Works 839,367 943,747 104,380 11.06%
Other Expenditures 742,483 766,689 24,206 3.16%
Total Expenditures $ 10,718,656 $ 11,066,337 347,681 3.14%

Tax revenues were better than budget due to an increase in real estate property tax collections,
$64,391; an increase in eamed income tax collections, $290,218; and a decrease in other tax
collections, $(18,674).

Intergovernmental revenues were better than budget due tfo state aid for the Early Intervention
Program, $37,500; a state recycling grant, $35,100; a state fire services grant, $13,116; and a net
increase in all other intergovernmental revenues, $23,418.

Other revenues were better than budget due to an increase in license and permit collections,
$72,328; an increase in rental property fees, $12,054; and increase in building permit fees, $14,059;
an increase in insurance reimbursements, $9,210; and a net increase in other revenues, $23,971.

Public safety expenditures were lower than budget due to a decrease in the cost of the City’s policing
efforts, $'189,320; a decrease in the cost of operating the City’s fire department, $16,183; the
expenditure of a state fire services grant, $(13,116); and a net increase in other expenditures,
$(10,017).

Public works expenditures were lower than budget due to a decrease in overall highway department
expenditures, $82,815; a decrease in traffic control expenditures, $30,992; a decrease in street
cleaning expenditures, $15,727; and an increase in recycling expenditures, $(25,154).

-16-
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
DECEMBER 31, 2013 )

CAPITAL ASSETS

The City's capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, included land, building, equipment,
construction-in-progress, and infrastructure, and totaled $55,056,055 at December 31, 2013. The
following is a summary of capital assets at December 31, 2013 and 2012:

2013 2012
Governmental Activities:

Land $ 951,802 $ 951,802
Infrastructure 65,047,882 49,769,638
Buildings and Improvements 7,283,828 7,269,697
Machinery and Equipment 815,663 ' 814,882
Vehicles 2,160,396 2,277,726
Construction-in-progress 753,280 9,920,963
Total Capital Assets 77,012,851 71,004,708
Less: Accumulated Depreciation (21,956,796) (20,749,329)
Cost Less Accumulated Depreciation $ 55,056,055 $ 50,255,379

Capital assets increased $4,800,676 over the balance at December 31, 2012. This increase is due o
the placement in service of the City’s bridge project, $5,458,421; the addition of construction-in-
progress for projects at Coleman Memorial Park and Stoever's Dam Park, $666,043: the addition of
one new and two used police vehicles, $71,116; the sale at auction of various vehicles and highway
equipment, $(201,568); the conversion of the boiler, from heating oil to natural gas, at two of the City’s
fire stations, $14,131; offset by net accumulated depreciation, $(1,207,467). The City's net investment
in capital assets totaled $54,841,055 at December 31, 2013.

Depreciation expense for 2013 and 2012 totaled $1,408,410, and $1,058,010, respectively.

Detailed information about the City’s capital assets can be found in Note 7 of the notes to the
financial statements.

DEBT ADMINISTRATION

The City has a subsidy agreement with the County for the repayment of the County’s General
Obligation Bonds, Series of 2009 and 2004. The amount of principal paid on the bonds by the City
during 2013 was $45,000.

In January 2013, the City Council authorized the issuance of a tax and revenue anticipation note in
the amount of $1,000,000. The note was secured by a lien on the revenues of the City and incurred
interest at an annual rate of 1.25 percent. The amount of $50,000 which had been drawn down
against the note was paid off in December 2013 as required.

-17 -
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS - UNAUDITED (CONT’D)
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At December 31, 2013, the City had $215,000 of debt outstanding. The following is a summary of
long-term debt for the 2013 year:

Beginning balance, January 1, 2013 $ 260,000
Less: Principal Payments (45,000)
Balance Outstanding, December 31, 2013 $ 215,000

Detailed information about the City’s long-term liabilities is presented in Note 8 of the financial
statements.

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The City continues to face fiscal challenges common to many third class cities and other urban
communities across Pennsylvania and the nation: a stagnant tax base due to land-locked
boundaries and the need for development, inflationary pressures on labor costs, and benefits; and a
high number of tax-exempt properties which reduces the revenue available to support City services.
More than 33 percent of the assessed land value within the City is tax-exempt. If these properties
were taxable, the City would receive an additional $1 million in taxes. The City does promote a
Payment in Lieu of Taxes Program; however, only about a dozen organizations participate.

The costs of unfunded mandates, soaring personnel costs combined with an outdated local tax
structure, have generated an unprecedented fiscal crisis at the local governmental level. All levels of
government continue to be faced with increasing property taxes and user fees, cutting services, and
decreasing their workforce to make ends meet.

A county-wide reassessment was completed in 2012. The tax base was equalized and brought to
current market value. In 2013, the City’s tax millage was subsequently lowered to 3.581 from 25 mills
in order to achieve a revenue neutral effect, as required by law. The City is now able to increase its
real estate tax miliage rate since it is no longer at the maximum rate allowed by state statue for a third
class city.

Earned Income Tax is limited by the Home Rule Charter to 1.4 percent.

On January 8, 2014, City Council authorized the issuance of a tax and revenue anticipation note in
the amount of $1 million. The note is to be used for current expenses and is secured by a security
interest in the taxes and other revenues of the City. Interest accrues af an annual floating “Bank
Qualified Tax Free Rate of 66.3 percent of Wall Street Journal Prime” (at time of issuance was 2.15
percent). As of July of 2014, the City has not had to use the note to meet its liabilities.

Like other cities, Lebanon has challenges in meeting the demands of housing for its special needs
and low and moderate income population. Approximately 63 percent of all residents in the City of
Lebanon are considered low- to moderate-income, and the 2010 Census reported that 22.9 percent
of City residents are below poverly level. This number increased from the 2000 Census, which
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reported that 14.6 percent of the City's population was below poverty level. The average in
Pennsylvania is 12.4 percent of the population. However, the City does have programs in place to
address those issues. Programs include the first-time home buyer and home rehabiiitation programs,
both of which are funded as part of the Community Development Block Grant from the U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development. It should be noted though that over the last several
years, funding has dramatically decreased.

The City’s current commitments also include a dual bridge project over the Norfolk Southemn Railroad
at a total project cost of about $50 million. Funding of the project originally was split 80 percent
Federal, 15 percent State, and five percent City. The City initially entered into an agreement with the
Pennsylvania Department of Transportation for an infrastructure bank loan in the amount of $1.2
million to go towards the construction of the bridges. However, in 2010, the City was able to secure
additional state funding to adequately fund the portion of the construction originally covered by the
bank loan. In all, 61 buildings were razed with eight businesses and 95 residents relocated.
Construction on the Ninth Street Bridge commenced in May of 2011 and was completed in
September of 2012. Construction of the Tenth Street Bridge commenced in September of 2012 and
was opened in August of 2013. The construction project was 100 percent completed on January 17,
2014. The bridge project's design contract was extended to September 27, 2014 in order to
complete administrative work on the archeological finds and to further study traffic impacts on existing
traffic signals in the area of the new bridges.

The City was awarded a Redevelopment Assistance Capital Program grant by Governor Corbett in the
amount of $3 million to demolish more than 30 additional properties in the 300 block of North
Partridge Street for future redevelopment. Those homes were not included in the original bridge
project plan, but rather, left residents with the prospect of living in the shadow of the bridge spans.
The City is partnering with the Lebanon County Redevelopment Authority, and the Authority handled
the acquisition phase of the project. The Authority started the appraisal and negotiating phase in the
summer of 2012. In all, there were 40 properties to be acquired with nine of them being land only
(residual from the bridge project). Appraisals were completed and all properties were negotiated with
successful outcomes for acquisition. Demolition started in June of 2014. The City will issue a “Highest
and Best Use” Request for Proposal in the fall of 2014. The City will seek proposals from developers
who will purchase the land and improve the site with a use that will improve the economic strength of
the City and provide quality jobs for our residents.

Other city projects, which are currently underway include:

e Continuing the EIm Street revitalization program to connect members of the Northside
neighborhood and help empower the residents to take coliective ownership in caring for their
neighborhood.

* A Branding and Marketing campaign commenced in 2011. The City adopted a Vision
Statement, City Tag Line, and established committees to carry out the vision. One of the goals
set was to implement a Business Improvement District. The City applied for a 50/50 matching
grant in 2014 to have a BID Study performed. A Request for Proposal has been prepared in
anticipation of receiving the grant monies. It is projected that the RFP will be issued in the fall
of 2014,
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* Revisions have been drafted to the Shade Tree Ordinance, and the City will continue to work
towards reactivating the Shade Tree Commission. An active Commission will assist with
maintaining and improving the City’s green infrastructure, which provides numerous benefits o
the City, including environmental, biodiversity, and air poliution mitigation; climate
modification; and storm water mitigation, social and economic.

e In 2011, the City finalized the master site plan for future improvements to Coleman Memorial
Park located in the northwest corner of the City and applied to the Pennsylvania Infrastructure
and Development Authority (“PENNVEST”), the Department of Conservation and Natural
Resources (“DCNR’) and the Lebanon County Commissioners for funding. The City was
approved for funding in 2012 from PENNVEST, in the amount of $576,450 for a redesigned
park entrance that will permit two-way fraffic and encourage infiltration of stormwater runoff,
greening of the amphitheater area, and other infrastructure improvements. The City also was
approved for §15,000 from the Lebanon County Commissioners and for $475,000 from DCNR
for a playground, a new pervious parking lot, and other above-ground improvements. With
the exception of the playground, all improvements have been completed by July of 2014.
The playground project is expected to be completed by late fall of 2014 or spring of 2015.

e Llitigation over the erroneous distribution of Earned Income Taxes continues. The City is
attempting to regain its $1.48 million mistakenly paid by the Lebanon County Eamned Income
Tax Bureau to other municipalities and school districts.

The current administration is committed to providing efficient and cost effective services to the
residents, businesses, and taxpayers of the City and has a renewed focus on city living and
investment. Priorities continue to include searching for permanent revenue sources to maintain city
services, continuing the City's property maintenance program, increasing street maintenance
programs, pursuing inter-governmental cost-sharing strategies, and increasing community policing
principals.

The state has an Early Intervention Program aimed at aiding municipalities to hopefully fend off the
need for an Act 47 declaration. Out of 55 communities that have been involved in the early
intervention program, all but four were helped to the point where they did not need to enter into Act
47. This program is a monitoring and planning approach for financially distressed municipalities
seeking to address problems before they become severe. The most important point to note with the
Early Intervention Program is that the municipality can decide which recommendations to implement.
An Act 47 Recovery Plan is prepared by a Recovery Team and must be adopted and followed by the
municipality or the state can sanction the municipality and withhold state monies. An Act 47 Plan may
contain recommendations that City officials, residents, and business owners may not believe to be in

the community’s best inferest.

The City of Lebanon had an Early Intervention Plan | (“EIP”) prepared during 2005-2007. The City's
landscape changed since the first EIP was completed. The City split from the City of Lebanon
Authority (sewer and water) in 2006 and the City received one-time supplemental income from the
sale of excess sewer capacity for a few years afterwards. Now the City operates completely
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independent from the Authority. It is not abnormal for host municipalities and authorities to share costs
and for authorities to even subsidize operations somewhat. When the City and the Authority split, the
City lost the cost-sharing, as well as, subsidization. We believe this monetary los represents
approximately $1 million a year.

The City implemented numerous recommendations from the EIP Plan I, but the City needed an
updated plan in order to continue to avoid filing for an Act 47 determination. In 2012, the City was
approved by the Department of Community and Economic Development for a 75/25 financial match
to update its plan. The EIP Il was completed in April of 2013. One of the plan’s priorities was to create
an Economic Development Strategy for the City (“EIP lli"). The City received approval in 2013 for a
75/25 matching grant. A Request for Proposal was sent to several consultants in June 2014. The
proposals are due August 1, 2014. Developing an Economic Development Strategy is expected to
take about one year to complete. :

| Regarding other economic development approaches, with the assistance of the Lebanon Valley

Economic Development Corporation, in 2012, two city-owned properties on Schneider Drive were
listed for sale. In the spring of 2014, a 120 Due Diligence Agreement was signed on one of the lots. A
sales agreement is anticipated to be signed at the end of the Due Diligence time period. In
2012/2013, a Local Economic Revitalization Tax Assistance (“LERTA”) program (five-year tax abatement
program) was established in the School District, County, and City to encourage commercial or
industrial developers to locate on the City’s north side. Additionally, the City received approval to
establish a Keystone Opportunity Zone (KOZ-10 year tax abatement program) for the two Schneider
Drive properties and received approval to extend the existing KOZ for the Aspens Business Park in
December of 2013.

The City will look to implement long-term community and economic development strategies for tax
base stabilization, adopt best management practices to achieve operating efficiencies, and will
continue with other marketing and beautification efforts, in order to change the perception of the City
of Lebanon.

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers, investors, and creditors
with a general overview of the City's finances and to demonstrate the City's accountability for the
money it receives. If you have any questions about this report or need additional financial
information, contact Sherry Capello, Mayor, City of Lebanon, Municipal Building, 400 South Eighth
Street, Lebanon, PA 17042 (Telephone: 717-228-4401).
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CITY OF LEBANON

STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Receivables
Accounts
Taxes
Grants
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
Restricted Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total Current Assets
Noncurrent Assets:
Conditional grants
Loans receivable
Program loans
Capital assets, not being depreciated
Capital assets, being depreciated, net
Total Noncurrent Assets

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES,
AND NET POSITION
LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable
Customer deposits
Accrued expenses and withholdings
Other liabilities
Accrued health benefits
Accrued interest
Bonds payable
Total Current Liabilities
Noncurrent Liabilities:
Bonds payable
Accrued compensated absences
Other post-employment benefits
Total Noncurrent Liabilities

TOTAL LIABILITIES

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Long-term receivables - revolving loan funds

" NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets
Restricted

Unrestricted (Deficit)

TOTAL NET POSITION

TOTAL LIABILITIES, DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES, AND NET POSITION

2013

$ 2,217,685

1,110,551
2,716,785
2,355,758
11,883
114,740

105,032

8,632,434

30,056
3,562,086
301,352
1,705,082
53,350,973

58,949,549
$ 67,581,983

$ 1,287,631
120,740
365,973
483,350

75,277
1,680
45,000

2,379,551

170,000
47,406
8,056,682

8,274,088
10,653,639

3,644,441

54,841,055
1,243,327
2,800,479

53,283,903

S 67581983

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

2012

$ 3,368,995

467,147
3,025,117
3,358,697

53,154
- 182,885

76,896

10,532,891

35,956
3,555,513
282,450
10,872,765
39,382,614

54,129,298
_$ 64,662,189

$ 3,073,736
108,449
314,262
245,979

64,940
1,089
45,000

3,853,455

215,000
43,782
6,854,347

7113129
10,966,584

3,622,051

49,995,379
1,156,299
1,078,124

50,073,554

_§ 64662180
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CITY OF LEBANON

RECONCILIATION OF BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

DECEMBER 31, 2013

TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES

Amounts reported for government activities in the statement of net position
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

An Internal Service Fund is used by the City to charge the costs of medical
benefits to the individual funds. The assets and liabilities of the Internal
Service Fund are included in governmental activities in the statement of
net position.

Some of the City's taxes will be collected after year-end, but are not
available soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures and,
therefore, are reported as unavailable revenue in the funds.

Long-term liabilities applicable to the City's governmental activities are not
due and payable in the current period and, accordingly, are not reported as
fund liabilities. All liabilities - both current and long-term - are reported in
the statement of net position.

Accrued interest

Bonds payable

Compensated absences

Other post-employment benefits

NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

-25-

$ (1,580)
(215,000)
(47,406)

(8,056,682)

$ 4,209,717

55,056,055

519,180

1,819,619

(8,320,668)

_§ 53,283,003
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CITY OF LEBANON

RECONCILIATION OF STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES
IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TO STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - TOTAL GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities
are different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in

the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which
capital outlays ($6,209,711) exceeded depreciation expense ($1,408,410).

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. Deferred inflows of
resources increased by this amount this year.

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. loans payable) provides current financial
resources to governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of
long-term debt consumes the current financial resources of governmental
funds. Neither transaction, however, has any effect on net position.

An Internal Service Fund is used by the City to charge the costs of medical
benefits to the individual funds. The net income of the Internal Service
Fund is reported with the governmental activities.

Gain or loss on capital asset disposals are reported at the fund level only to
the extent of any proceeds received from the sale, while governmental activities
reflect the economic impact of a gain or loss.

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting used in the governmental
funds, expenditures are not recognized for the transactions that are not
normally paid with expendable available financial resources. In the statement
of activities, however, which is presented on the accrual basis, expenses and
liabilities are reported regardless of when financial resources are available.

In addition, assets are not recognized in governmental funds unless they
represent current financial resources but are recognized in the statement of
activities as they accrue. The following differences, therefore, occurred
between the statement of activities and the governmental funds.

Accrued interest $ (491)
Compensated absences '(3,624)
Other post-employment benefits (1,202,335)

CHANGE IN NET POSITION - GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

-7 -

- $150,246

4,801,301

(351,400)

45,000

(227,723)

(625)

(1,206,450)

$ 3,210,349



CITY OF LEBANON

BUDGETARY COMPARISON STATEMENT - GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

Original Actual
and Final Amounts Variance
Appropriated (Budgetary ' Positive
‘Budget Basis) (Negative)
REVENUES v
Taxes $ 7,720,169 $ 8,056,104 $ 335,935
Licenses and permits 462,175 534,503 72,328
Fines and forfeitures 494,650 504,320 9,670
Interest and rents 28,623 42,010 13,387
Intergovernmental 861,270 970,404 109,134
Charges for services 572,460 595,278 22,818
Miscellaneous income 3,600 17,019 13,419
TOTAL REVENUE 10,142,947 10,719,638 576,691
EXPENDITURES
Current:
General governmentall 869,998 833,279 36,719
Public safety 8,485,903 8,303,527 182,376
Public works 943,747 839,367 104,380
Culture and recreation 357,916 340,914 17,002
Miscellaneous 345,213 343,964 1,249
Debt service:
Principal 63,710 50,000 3,710
Interest 9,850 7,605 2,245
TOTAL EXPENDITURES 11,066,337 10,718,656 347,681
EXCESS (DEFICIENCY) OF REVENUES
OVER (UNDER) EXPENDITURES (923,390) 982 924,372
OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) ‘
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 1,000 18,128 17,128
Proceeds from tax anticipation notes ‘ - 50,000 - 50,000
Transfers in 92,000 93,000 1,000
Transfers out (40,622) (94,332) (53,710)
TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 52,378 66,796 14,418
NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (871,012) 67,778 938,790
FUND BALANCE, BEGINNING OF YEAR 2,901,172 2,901,172 -

FUND BALANCE, END OF YEAR $ 2,030,160 $ 2,968,950 $ 938,790

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

-28-
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STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION - PROPRIETARY FUND

CITY OF LEBANON

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Due from other funds
Prepaid expenses

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
Current Liabilities:
Accrued health benefits
Unearned revenue

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION
Unrestricted

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

434,112

519,180

2013

93,713
786,560
53,131
19,888

053,292

75,277
358,835

953,292

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

-29 -

2012

824,573
341
53,131
19,888

897,933

64,940
86,090

151,030

746,903

897,933
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STATEMENTS OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION -

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

OPERATING REVENUES

Charges for services

Interest income

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUES
OPERATING EXPENSES

Employee benefits

Professional services

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR

CITY OF LEBANON

PROPRIETARY FUND

1,559,073

1,786,796

746,903

$

$

2013

1,657,176
1,897

1,779,720
7,076

(227,723)

519,180

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

2012

1,746,968
2,425

1,749,393

1,502,049

1,502,049

247,344

499,559

746,903



CITY OF LEBANON

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS - PROPRIETARY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from users

Payments to suppliers

Interest income

NET CASH (USED) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
NET CHANGE IN'CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR

RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET
CASH (USED) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss)
Adjustment to reconcile operating income (loss) to net cash
(used) provided by operating activities:
Increase in assets:
Accounts receivable
Increase in liabilities:
Accounts payable
Unearned revenue

NET CASH (USED) PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

2013

$ 1,043,702
(1,776,459)
1,897

(730,860)

(730,860)

824,573

$ 93,713

$ (227,723)

(786,219)

10,337
272,745

$ (730,860)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2012

$ 1,746,912
(1,484,066)
2,425

265,271

265,271

559,302

S 824573

$ 247,344

(56)

17,983

$ 265,271
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STATEMENTS OF NET POSITION - FIDUCIARY FUNDS

CITY OF LEBANON

DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION
Assets held in trust for pension benefits

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

2013

$ 920,833
20,507,434
25,049

$ 21,453,316

21,453,316

8 21453316

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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2012

$ 606,589
17,962,366
21,816

$ 18,590,771

s e

882

18,589,889

$ 18,590,771



CITY OF LEBANON
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION - FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

cmbisimisad

2013 2012

ADDITIONS
Contributions:

Employee $ 190,320 $ 178,104

Employer 444,810 302,115

Commonwealth 632,273 614,146
Total Contributions 1,267,403 1,094,365
INVESTMENT INCOME : ‘
Interest and dividends 340,920 346,213
Net appreciation in fair value of investments 2,659,008 1,672,945
Total Investment Income 2,999,928 2,019,158
Less investment expenses 112,372 144,798
Net Investment Income 2,887,556 1,874,360
TOTAL ADDITIONS 4,154,959 2,968,725
DEDUCTIONS
Administrative costs 2,772 2,667
Refunded contributions - 69,420
Retirement benefits 1,288,760 1,297,673
TOTAL DEDUCTIONS 1,291,632 1,369,760
CHANGE IN NET POSITION 2,863,427 1,598,965
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR . 18,589,889 16,990,924

NET POSITION END OF YEAR

_$ 21453316

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

-33-

5 18,580,880



PEE———

[FSNR

(U

NOTE 1

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the City of Lebanon (the “City") have been prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP') as applied to
govemnnmental units. The Governmental Accounfing Standards Board (‘GASB") is the
authoritative standard-setting body for the establishment of governmental accounting and
financial reporting principles. The more significant of these accounting policies are as
follows:

Financial Reporting Entity

The Cily was incorporated in 1868 under the provisions of the constitution and general
statutes of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania. The City is a third-class city as defined by
state statutes and operates under a Home Rule Charter form of government, which consists of
an elected Mayor and the City Council (the “"Council”). The City provides various services to
its residents including public safety, public works, culture and recreation, economic
development, and general administrative services.

GASB Statement No. 14, “The Financial Reporting Entity,” as amended by GASB Statement No.
39, and GASB Statement No. 61, “The Financial Reporting Entity:. Omnibus,” established the
criteria for determining the aclivities, organizations, and. functions of government to be
included in the financial statements of the reporting entity. The criteria used in determining -
whether such organizations should be included in the City’s financial reporting entity are
financial interdependencies, selection of governing authority, designation of management,
ability to significantly influence operations, accountability for fiscal matters, scope of public
service, and special financing relationships.

The City has determined that no other outside agency meets the above ciiteria and;
therefore, no other agency has been included as a component unit in the City's financial
statements. In addition, the City is not aware of any entily which would exercise such
oversight which would result in the City being considered a component unit of the entity.

Entity-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The entity-wide financlal statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of
activities) report information on all of the nonfiduciary activities of the City.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are
clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include: 1)
charges to custiomers who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or
privileges provided by a function or segment, and 2) grants and contributions that are
restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a function or segment.” Taxes
and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as
general revenues.

-34-



[P

[T

PUS——

NOTE 1

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds, even though the last are excluded from the entity-wide financial statements.
Maijor individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as
separate columns in the fund financial statements. All remaining governmental funds are
aggregated and reported as non-major funds. In addition, the fund financial statements
present fiduciary funds by fund type.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

The enlity-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recorded when
earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities are incurred, regardless of the
timing of the related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenue in the year for
which they are levied. Grants and similar items (nonexchange transactions) are recognized
as revenue as soon as dall eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been
satisfied.

The entity-wide financial statements report net position in one of three components. Net
investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net-of accumulated depreciation and
reduced by the ouistanding balances of borrowing attributable to acquiring, constructing, or
improving those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when constraints placed on their
use are either externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants), grantors,
contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments, or imposed by law through
constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Those restrictions affect net position arising
from special revenue and capital projects funds. Unrestricted net position consists of net
position that does not meet the definition of "net investment in capital assets” or "restricted.”

The governmental fund financial statements are reported using the curent financial
resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are
recognhized as soon as they become both measurable and available. Revenues are
considered to be available if they are collected within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers property
tax revenue to be available if collected within 60 days of the end of the fiscal period.
Revenue from federal, state, and other grants designated for payment of specific City
expenditures is recognized when the related expenditures are incurred; accordingly, when
such funds are received, they are reporied as uneared revenues until earned. Other
revenues, including charges for services and miscellaneous revenues, are recorded as
revenue when received in cash because they generally are not measurable until actually
received.

Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred (upon receipt of goods
or services), except for principal and interest on general long-term debt, claims and
judgments, and compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent
they have matured. General capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in
governmental funds. Long-term debt issues and acquisitions under capital leases are
reported as other financing sources. '

-35.-
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Fund Accounting -

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a
separate accounting entity. 'The operations of each are accounted for with a separate set of
self-balancing accounts which are comprised of each fund's assets, liabilities, fund equity,
revenues, and expenditures or expenses. The funds are grouped info three fypes. The
following is a description of the fund types used by the City in the accompanying basic
financial statements.

Governmental Fund Types

Governmental funds are used to account for the City’s expendable financial resources and
related liabilities. The measurement focus is upon determination of changes in financial
position. The following are the City's major governmental fund types:

General Fund ~ This fund is used to account for the general operating activities of the City.
General government, public safety, public works, culture and recreation, and economic
development are financed through this fund with receipts from general property taxes,
transfer taxes, licenses and permits, investment interest, fines, charges for current serwces,
intergovernmental, and other revenue.

Community Developmeni Block Grant Fund - This fund is used to report financial resources

that are restricted for community development service expenditures.

HOME Fund - This fund is used to account for grants and contributions that are restricted for
the low-income housing development service expenditures.

Bridge Over Norfolk South Fund - This fund is used to account for state and federal funding
awarded for a bridge project. The purpose of the funding is restricted to the design and
construction of the bridge.

Redevelopment Fund - This fund is used to report financial resources that- are restricted for
redevelopment within the City.

Non-major Governmental Funds — In addition to the above major governmental funds, the
City includes the Special Revenue Funds, Debt Service Fund, and Permanent Fund in its
financial statements.

Special Revenue Funds — Special Revenue Funds are used to account for specific revenues
that are legally restricted or intemally committed to expenditures for particular purposes. The
following special revenue funds are included in the governmental fund financial statements
as non-major funds: Police Contribution Fund, Public Works Contribution Fund, Recreation
Confribution Fund, Main Street Contribution Fund, Police Special Revenue Fund, Capital
Reserve Fund, Liquid Fuels Fund, Rental Rehab Fund, Enierprise Zone Fund, Downtown Rehab
Fund, Bridge Over Norfolk South Right of Way Fund, Act 137 Fund, Hazel Dyke Fund, Schropp
Estate Fund, Lauther Trust Fund, Economic Development Fund, and the State Housing and
Redevelopment Assisiance Fund.
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NOTE 1

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Debt Service Fund - The Debt Service Fund accounts for the resources accumulated and
payments made for the principal and inferest on long-term general obligation debt of
governmental funds.

Permanent Fund — This fund is used to report the resources that are legally restricted to the
extent that only earnings and not principal may be used for purposes that suppornt the
reporting government’s programs. The Louser Memorial Fund is included in the governmental
fund financial statements as a permanent fund.

Other Fund Type

Internal Service Fund - This fund is used to account for the financing of dental and health
insurance costs for the City's departments.

Fiduciary Fund Type

Trust Fund - Trust funds are used to account for the assets held by the pension plan for the
police and paid firemen’s pension plans. The pension plans, which are part of the City’s
legal entity, are single-employer defined benefit pension plans that provide benefits to City
employees. ’

Interfund Transactions

With limited exceptions, the effects of interfund activity have been eliminated from the entity-
wide financial statements. Exceptions include charges by one government function to
another where services have been provided. Elimination of these charges would distort the
direct costs and program revenues reported for the various functions.

Deposits and Investments

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, the proprietary fund considers all highly liquid
investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased fo be cash
equivalents,

Investments for the City are reported at fair value.

Inventories and Prepaid ltems

Inventories of the governmental activities are valued at average cost. Inventories of
governmental funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when
purchased. Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting
periods and are recorded as prepaid items in both entity-wide and fund financial statements,
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Capital Assets

Capital assets, including property, plant, and equipment, are reported in the entity-wide
financial statements. The City has defined capital assets as assets with an initial, individual
cost of more than $5,000; capital projects, inclusive of ancillary costs, in excess of $100,000;
and an estimated useful life in excess of one year. Capital assets may be purchased or
constructed and are recorded at cost. Donated capital assets are recorded at estimated
fair value at the date of donation. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not
add to the value of the asset or materially extend the asset’s life are not capitalized.

Capital assets of the City are depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the related assets as follows:

Buildings and improvements 20 - 40 years
Infrastructure 30 - 50 years
Machinery and equipment 2 -15vyears
Automotive equipment 2 - 8 years

Compensated Absences

Compensated absences consist of sick leave to the extent that payments to the employee for
the absences are attributable to services already rendered and are not contingent on a
specific event that is outside the control of the City and the employee. The liability is based
on the sick leave accumulated at December 31 by all employees and is calculated using
pay rates in effect at the statement of net position date reduced to the maximum payment
allowed by policy or agreement.

The City’'s non-uniformed non-bargaining employees eam sick leave according to the
provisions of their personnel policy manual. Full-time employees receive a lump sum
payment for unused, accumulated sick leave upon retirement if they have completed at
least 10 years of service. Maximum limits for the lump sum payment depend on the years of
service accumulated by the employee.

The City's non-uniformed, union employees earn sick leave according to requirements
outlined in their master agreement. Permanent, full-time hourly wage employees receive a
lump sum payment for unused, accumulated sick leave upon retirement if they have
completed at least 10 years of service. Maximum limits for the lump sum payment depend
on the years of service accumulated by the employee.

According to their master agreements, police officers receive $2 per day of unused sick
leave upon retirement, up to a maximum accumulation of 300 days and firefighters receive
$5 per day for unused sick leave upon retirement, up to a maximum of 180 days.

The compensated absence liability is reported on the government-wide financial statements.
On governmental fund financial statements, compensated absences are recognized as
liabilities and expenditures to the exient payments come .due each period upon the
occurrence of employee resignations and retirements.
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Deferred Inflows .of Resources

In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element represents an
acquisition-of net position that applies to a future period(s) and so will not be recognized as
an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time.

At the government-wide level, the City currently has one type of item that qualifies for
reporting in this category. The item is reported in the statement of net position as long-term
receivables for the revolving loan funds.

The governmental funds report three items that qualify for reporting in this category. The City
has property taxes and cerfain long-term receivables. The items are reported as unavailable
revenue and are recognized as an inflow of resources in the period the amounts become
available. :

Fund Equity

The City has implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No. 54, “Fund Balance Reporting
and Governmental Fund Type Definitions.” The objective of this statement is 1o enhance the
usefulness of fund balance information by providing clearer fund balance classifications that
can be more consistently applied by clarifying the existing govermnmental fund type
definitions. This statement establishes fund balance classifications that comprise a hierarchy
based primarily on the extent to which a govemment is bound to observe constraints
imposed upon the use of resources reported in governmental funds.

Fund balance will be displayed in the following classification (if applicable) depicting the
relative strength of the spending constraints placed on the purposes for which resources can
be used:

Nonspendable - amounts that cannot be spent because they are in nonspendable form
(e.g., inventory), or legally or contractually required fo be maintained infact (e.g., principal of
a permanent fund).

Restricted — amounts limited by external parties or legislation (e.g., grants or donations and
constraints imposed through a debt covenant).

Committed — amounts limited by Council policy (e.g., future anticipated costs). These
constraints can be removed or changed by equal levels of action. Action or constraint
resources should occur prior to fiscal year end. To be reported as committed, amounts
cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City takes the same highest level action to
remove or change the constraint.

Assigned — amounts that are intended for a particular purpose such as future benefits funding
or segregation of an amount intended to be used at some time in the future. This intent can
be expressed by the Council or through the Council delegating this responsibility to the City
Manager through the budgetary process.
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

Unassigned - amounts available for consumption or not resticted in any manner.

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to
use restricted resources first and then unrestricted as they are needed. When committed,
assigned, and unassigned funds are available for expenditure, it is the City's policy to use
committed funds first, assigned funds second, and unassigned funds last, unless the City

Council has provided otherwise in its commitment or assignment actions. ‘

Propery Taxes

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property when levied. All liens continue until
property taxes are paid in full. Taxes are levied on March 1 and are payable on or before
July 1. Taxes paid before May 31 are given a two percent discount. Taxes paid after the
payable datfe are assessed a 10 percent penalty. Taxes not received on a fimely basis are
directed to the County of Lebanon for collection. The City bills and collects its own property
taxes. City property tax revenues are recognized on a pro rata basis. The assessed value at
January 1, 2013, upon which the 2013 levy was based, was $864,678,092 with a real estate
tax assessment of $3,161,615. The properly tax rate for 2013 was $3.58 per $1,000 of
assessed vaiue,

Use of Estimates in the Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect certain
reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results could differ from those
estimates.

Restricted Assets

Certain assets are classified as restricted at the entity-wide level because they are
maintained in separate bank accounts, and their use is limited.

Budgetary Information

Commonweaith of Pennsyivania statues require that city governments establish budgetary
systems and adopt annual operating budgets. The City’s annual budget is based on
estimates of revenues and expenditures approved by Council. The City prepares formal
budgets for the General Fund and the Liquid Fuels Fund, and follows the following procedures
as outlined in the City’s Home Rule Charter in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the
financial statements:

a. At least 60 days prior fo the beginning of the fiscal year, the Mayor prepares and
submits a budget to the Council presenting the financial plan for conducting the affairs
of the City for the ensuing year. The budget submitted by the Mayor to the Council
must be balanced so that anticipated revenues and funds available are at least equal
o estimated expenditures.
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coni'd)

b.

After submission to the Council, prior o and after adoption, the budget is deemed to
be a public record available for inspection during regular business hours.

Within 15 days after submission of the annual budget to the Council, the City Clerk
gives public notice regarding the time and place of public hearings on the annual
budget. The public hearings take place at a time and place designated by the City
Council.

After the public hearings are held, the Council or Committee(s) of the Council reviews
the budget. The financial staff of the City assists the Council in formatiting any
proposed modifications so that they are appropriate to the budget format submitted
and recommended by the Mayor.

-By December 1, the City Council adopts a budget by ordinance for each of the funds

of the City Government, which will be balanced so that estimates of revenues and
funds available are at least equal to estimated expenditures.

By December 5, the City Clerk submits the budget adopted by the Council o the
Mayor, specifying separately and distinctly any modifications, additions, increqses, or
decreases made to the Mayor's recommended budget by the Council. If the Mayor
approves all such modifications, changes, increases, or decreases, he or she signs the
budget and the statement of all individual changes and returns them to the City Clerk.
The budget, including all such changes, is then deemed to be adopted.

If the Mayor objects to the budget as a whole, or to any of the individual modification,
changes, increases, or decreases, he or she may veto the entire budget or any of the
individual changes by submitting a written statement of his or her objections and an
indication of veto by no later than December 12.

Council is required to meet no later than December 15 to consider the Mayor's veto on
the budget or any individual changes. If after consideration, a majority plus one of the
members of the Council in office votes to override the Mayor's veto if the budget or the
proposed changes, the adopted budget, together with any changes not objected to
by the Mayor, and any changes objected to by the Mayor and overruled by the
Council, shall be deemed to be the adopted budget of the City for the ensuing year,

If the Council fails to take action by no later than December 1, then the budget
submitted by the Mayor to Council shall be the budget for the ensuing fiscal year.

if the Council takes action by December 1 and the Mayor refuses to exercise approval
or veto power on the budget and any changes made by the Council, then the budget
adopted by the Council is deemed to be the budget for the ensuing fiscal year.

If Council has adopted a budget by December 1, and the Mayor has indicated his or
her veto of the budget as a whole or of various changes, and the Council has not
taken action fo consider the Mayor's veto, then the Mayor's veto will be deemed to
have been sustained; and the budget for the ensuing year is deemed to be the budget
adopted by Council with the changed vetoed by the Mayor.
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (cont'd)

l The budget lapses at year end.

The formal budgetary process is employed as a planning device. The adopted budget is on
a basis consistent with GAAP. For 2013, there were no revisions to the legally adopted

budget.

Comparative Data

Comparative totals for the prior year have been presented in the accompanying financial
statements in order to provide an understanding of changes in the City’s financial position
and operations. Certain amounts presented in the prior year have been reclassified in order
to be consistent with the current year's presentation. However, presentation of prior year
totals by fund and activity type have not been presented in each of the statements since
their inclusion would make the statements unduly complex and difficult to read. Summarized
comparative information should be read in conjunction with the City’s financial statements for
the year ended December 31, 2012, from which the summarized information was derived.

STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE, AND ACCOUNTABILITY

Excess of Expenditures Over Appropriations

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the General Fund incurred no expenditures in
excess of appropriations.

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS

The Third Class City Code authorizes the City’s Council o invest the City’s funds consistent with
sound business practice and as authorized by the Local Govemment Unit Debt Act.
Authorized types of investments for the City’s funds are as follows:

. United States Treasury bills,

o Short-term obligations of the United States Government or its agencies or
instrumentalities.

o Deposits in savings accounts or time deposits, other than certificates of deposit, or
share accounts of institutions insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Trust, National
Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, Pennsylvania Deposit Insurance Corporation, or
Pennsylvania Savings Association Insurance Corporation to the extent that such
accounts are so insured and for any amounts above the insured maximum, provided
that appropriate collateral as provided by law is pledged by the depository.
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS (cont'd)

Obligations of (a) the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalities
backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America; (b) the
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by
the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth; or (¢) any political subdivision of the
Commonwealth of Pennsyivania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by
the full faith and credit of the political subdivision.

Shares of an investment company registered under the Investment Company Act of
1940, whose shares are registered under the Securities Act of 1933, provided that the
only investments of that company are in the authorized investments for city funds listed
in the items above.

Certificates of deposit purchased from institutions insured by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Trust, National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, Pennsylvania Deposit
Insurance Corporation, or Pennsylvania Savings Association Insurance Corporation fo
the extent that such amounts are so insured. For amounts exceeding the insured
maximum, such cerlificates of deposit are to be collateralized by a pledge or
assignment of assets of the institution, and such collateral may include loans (including
interest in pools of loans) secured by first mortgage liens on real property. Cettificates
of deposit purchased from commercial banks are limited to an amount equal to twenty
per centum of a bank’s total capital surplus. Cettificates of deposit purchased from
savings and loan associations or savings banks are limited to an amount equal to
twenty per centum of an institution’s assets minus liabilities.

Any investment authorized by 20 Pa.C.S. Ch. 73 (relating to fiduciary investments) is an
authorized investment for any pension or retirement fund.

In making investments of City funds, the Council has the authority to permit assets pledged as
collateral to be pooled to secure deposits of the public funds. In addition, Council is

perm

itted fo combine money from more than one fund under City control for the purchase of

a single investment, provided that each of the funds combined is accounted for separately,
and the earnings are separately computed and recorded.

A reconciliation of the financial statement presentation to the cash and cash equivalenis and
investment totals is detailed below. :

Cash
and Cash
Equivalents Investments Total
Governmental activities $ 2,217,685 $ - $ 2,217,685
Governmental activities, restricted 105,032 - 105,032
Fiduciary funds 920,833 20,507,434 21,428,266

Totals

§ 3,243,550 $ 20,507,434 $ 23,750,983
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS (cont'd)
Deposits
Custodial Credit Risk

Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the government's deposits
may not be returned. At December 31, 2013, the carrying amount of the City's deposits was
$3,243,550 and the bank balance was $3,612,536. Of the bank balance, $548,124 was
covered by federal depository insurance and $2,805,781 was exposed to custodial credit risk
because it was uninsured and the coliateral held by the depository’s agent was not in the
City’s name. The remaining balance cash deposits totaling $258,631 are in PLGIT. Although
not registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission and not subject to regulatory
oversight, PLGIT acts like money market mutual funds in that its objective is to maintain a
stable net asset value of $1 per share, is rated by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization (Standard and Poor’s rating of AAA as of December 31, 2013), and is subject to
an independent annual audit. '

Invesiments

As of December 31, 2013, the City had the following investments:

Percentage
investment Type . _of Investments Maturities Fair Value
U.S. Government Treasuries 7.58% < 5 Years $ 1,554,914
U.S. Government Agency Obligations 1.44% < 5 Years 294,841
Bond Mutual Funds 16.24% < 5 Years 3,330,106
Equities and Equity Mutual Funds 74.74% N/A 15,327,573
Total Investments $ 20,507,434

U.S. Treasury bills are securities of agencies of the U.S. Government that have an implied but
not explicit guarantee. Investments in external investment pools, such as those in mutual
funds, are disclosed but not subject to interest rate, custodial, credit, or concentration risks
because they are not evidenced by securities that exist in physical or book eniry form.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair market
value of an investment. The Police Pension Plan and the City do not have formal investment
policies that would limit the investment maturities as a means of managing exposure to fair
value losses arising from increasing interest rates. The Paid Firemen's Pension Fund limits
individual fixed income securities to maturities of 30 years or less.

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its

obligations. The City has no formal investment policy pertaining to credit risk. The Police
Pension Plan requires that fixed income securities, other than U.s. Treasury and U.S.
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CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND INVESTMENTS (cont'd)

Government Agency investments have a Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s, and/or Fitch’s credit
quality rating of not less than “BBB.” The Paid Firemen's Pension Plan limits the purchase of
corporate or tax-exempt debt issues that meet or exceed a credit rating of “A” from Moody’s
and/or Standard & Poor's at the time of purchase. At December 31, 2013, the City’s
investments included only unrated bond mutual funds.

The Police Pension Plan provides that domestic equities holdings in any one company shall
not exceed more than 10 percent of the fair value of the portfolio. Additionally, the policy
provides that not more than 35 percent of the fair value of the portfolio shall be invested in
any one economic sector. For domestic fixed income securities, no one issuer, other than
securities of the U.S. Government or agencies, shall exceed 10 percent of the fair value of the
fixed income portfolio. For international equities, equity holdings in any one company is not
to exceed more than 10 percent of the international equity portfolio and no more than 35
percent of the portfolio is to be invested in one industry category.

The Paid Firemen'’s Pension Plan limits equities fo five percent of the account’s fair value for an
individual security and 20 percent for a particular industry.  For fixed income funds,
investments in securities of single issues, with the exception of the U.S. Government and its
agencies, must not exceed five percent of the fund’s fair value.

Custodial Credit Risk

For an investment, custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the
counterparty, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral
securities that are in the possession of an outside party. The City has no investments subject
to custodial credit risk. ‘

ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Accounts receivable as of the year end for the City’s individual major funds and hon-major
funds in the aggregate are as follows:

Community Bridge
Development Over Non-
General Block Grant HOME  Norfolk Redevel- major
Fund Fund Fund  South Fund opment Funds Total
Taxes: :

Real estate $ 377585 $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -$ 377,585
Eamed income 2,229,176 - - - - - 2,229,176
Local services 110,024 - - - - - 110,024
Total Taxes 2,716,785 - - - - 2,716,785
Accounts 317,667 1,311 - - 1,605 3,408 323,991
Grants 41,672 144,786 4,575 320,895 1,417,864 425,966 2,355,758

Total Receivables $ 3,076,124 § 146,097 $ 4,575 $ 320,895 $ 1,419,469 § 429,374 $ 5,396,534
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ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (cont'd)

Council adopted Bill No. 21, Sessions 2010-2011, on April 25, 2011, approving an
intermunicipal agreement with other Lebanon County municipalities and school districts to
provide for a compromise of disputes relating to the collection and distribution of earned
income taxes by the Lebanon County Earned Income Tax Bureau (“Bureau”). According to
an independent report conducted by a local accounting firm, the Bureau’s actual aliocation
of eamned income tax revenues within Lebanon County from 2004 through 2007 either over-
compensated or under-compensated each Lebanon taxing jurisdiction. As a result, the
report estimates that revenues of $1,447,958 are due to the City. The Agreement provides for
the City to be repaid for those underpayments over a 10-year period. The affected
municipalities and school districts had not ali adopted the agreement as of the date of this
report. However, the City intends to take legal action in order to recover the $1.4 million. As
of December 31, 2013, $1,158,454 is recorded as a receivable and uneamned revenue.

LOAN PROGRAMS

Conditional grants, deferred loans, and program loans totaling $30,056, -$3,562,086, and
$301,352, respectively, have been recorded as receivables at December 31, 2013.
Unavailable revenues totaling $124,515 and unavailable receivables totaling $3,664,441
have been recorded to offset the conditional grants, deferred loans, and program loans. As
these loans are repaid, the City will use the funds to enfer info another loan agreement
based on the loan programs’ criteria.

Community Development Block Grant Program .

The Community Development Block Grant Program provided funds to the City for the purpose
of making loans to individuails within the City to finance rehabilitation of residential property.
At December 31, 2013, loans outstanding from the rehabilitation project totaled $58,362.
The loan agreements require repayment of principal and interest, ranging from three percent
to five percent, over terms of one to fifteen years. )

The Community Development Block Grant Program also disburses funds in the forms of
conditional grants and deferred loans for homeowners, and conditional grants for investors
for rehabiliitation of rental units for lower-income tenants. Conditional grants for eligible low-
income homeowners are available for up to $5,000 to make repairs to homes in the City. The
grants are forgiven at the rate of 20 percent each year for five years, unless the forgiveness is
frozen by the Rehab Committee. Of the property sold, transferred, or vacated before the
end of the five years, the unforgiven portion of the grant must be repaid. Conditional grants
are secured with a judgment note. There were no principal balances outstanding at
December 31, 2013 for these conditional grants.

Deferred loans are secured by a mortgage on the property. Repayment of the loan is
deferred until the property is sold or until the original occupant moves out. The principail
balance outstanding at December 31, 2013 for these loans totaled $1,090,370 and the
deferred balance, including finance charges and penalties, was $1,091,692.
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

LOAN PROGRAMS (cont'd)
Home Grant and Homebuyer Program

The Home Grant Program also disburses funds in the form of loans. The principal bclcnces
outstanding at December 31, 2013 for the loans amounted o $37,809. :

In addition, the Home Grant Program and the Homebuyer Program also disburse funds in the
form of deferred payment loans for low and modest-income households. The deferred
payment loans are secured by a morigage on the propeny. Repayment of the loan is
deferred. The principal balances outstanding at December 31, 2013 for these loans totaled
$1,833,999 in the HOME Fund and $3,949 in the ACT 137 (non-major) Fund. Deferred inflows
of resources, including finance charges and penalties, were $1,857,134.

Downtown Revitalization Program

State funds received through a Downtown Revitalization Program Grant and funds received
through the General Fund were matched with Community Development Block Grants Funds
to finance rehabilitation of rental units located in the City’s downtown “Enterprise Zone.” The
loan agreements require repayment of principal and interest, ranging from three to five
percent, over terms of one fo fifteen years. The December 31, 2013 principal balance
outstanding totaled $137,572 in the Entferprise Zone (non-major) fund and $1,196 in the
General Fund.

The Downtown Revitalization Program also disburses funds in the form of conditional grants
and deferred loans. The principal balance outstanding at December 31, 2013 for the
conditional grants amounted to $15,815 in the Enterprise Zone (non-major) Fund and $14,241
in the Redevelopment Assistance Fund. The principal balance for the deferred loans
amounted to $90,000 in the Enterprise Zone (non-major) Fund, $81,521 in the State Housing
and Redevelopment (non-major) Fund, and $33,660 in the Redevelopment Assistance Fund.
Deferred inflows of resources for the deferred loans fotaled $201,577.

The grant contract for the Downtown Revitalization Program does not stipulate how the
principal and interest payments for these loans may be used. An interest-bearing account
has been established where the principal and interest payments will be held until future
eligible projects are requested and approved. Funds will then be put back into the program.

Housing and Redevelopment Assistance Program

State funds received through the Housing and Redevelopment Assistance Grant were
disbursed in the form of deferred loans for community revitalization projects. The loan
agreements require repayment of principal and interest at rates ranging from two to three
percent over a 30-year term. The principal balances outstanding at December 31, 2013 for
these loans totaled $495,000 in the State Housing and Redevelopment (non-major) Fund.
Deferred inflows of resources, including finance charges and penailties, totaled $498,754.
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INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS

The composition of interfund balances as bf December 31, 2013 is as follows:

Due from Due fo

Other Funds Other Funds
General Fund . § 1,735,896 $ 95,938
Community Development Block Grant Fund ' - 240
HOME Fund 580 -
Redevelopment - 1,362,540
Non-major Funds 40,622 371,511
Internal Service Fund 53,131 _ -
Totals $ 1,830,229 $ 1,830,229

These interfund receivables and payables represent planned transfers between funds to
reimburse operating expenditures for which cash was not moved prior to year end.

The City made the following interfund operating transfers during the year ended December
31, 2013. The transfers were made to make debt payments and reimburse the General Fund
for indirect costs.

Transfers In Transfers Out
General Fund $ 93,000 S 94,332
Community Development Block Grant Fund - 93,000
Non-major Funds 94,332 -
Totals | $ 187,332 $ 187,332
CAPITAL ASSETS

The capital asset activity for the year ended December 31, 2013 was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Governmental activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ 951,802 $ - $ - $ 951,802
Construction-in-progress 9,920,963 666,043 9,833,726 753,280
Total Capital Assets Not Being
Depreciated 10,872,765 666,043 9,833,726 1,705,082
Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings and improvements 7,269,697 14,131 - 7,283,828
Infrastructure 49,769,638 15,278,244 - 65,047,882
Machinery and equipment 814,882 13,903 13,122 815,663
Automotive equipment 2,277,726 71,116 188,446 2,160,396
Total Capiltal Assets Being Depreciated 60,131,943 15,377,394 201,568 75,307,769
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NOTE 7

NOTE 8

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CAPITAL ASSETS (cont'd)

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance
Less accumulated depreciation 20,749,329 1,408,410 200,943 21,956,796
Total Capital Assets Being Depreciated,
Net 39,382,614 13,968,984 625 53,350,973
Governmental Activities, Net $50,255,379 $14,635,027 $ 9,834,351 $55,056,055

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as.
follows: :

Governmental Activities:

General government $ 1,156,992
Public safety 75,698
Public works 124,418

~ Culture and recreation 51,302
Total Depreciation Expense - Governmental Activities $ 1,408,410

BONDS AND NOTES PAYABLE
Tax Anticipation Notfe

The City issued a tax revenue anticipation note in advance of property tax collections,
depositing the proceeds in its General Fund. - This note was necessary because the City’s
operating expenditures must be made in advance of the tax collections, which are received
shortly before their July due dates.

Total interest and fees paid on the fax revenue anticipation note during the year ended
December 31, 2013 totaled $7,605 and were paid for by the General Fund.

General Obligation Bonds

In 1999 the Counly of Lebanon (the “County”) issued General Obligation Bonds, Series of
1999, to pay for improvements to the municipal building jointly owned by the City and
County. That same year, the City entered into a subsidy agreement with the County to assist
in the repayment of a portion of the Bonds that was directly related to the City’s obligations.
The principal and interest payments on the obligations of the City and the note subsidy
agreement with the City were secured in full faith, credit, and taxing power of the City.

In 2004, the General Obligation Bonds, Series of 1999, were refinanced by the County issued
General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2004; however, the 1999 subsidy agreement between
the City and the County remained in place. The principal amount of the 2004 Bonds
attributable to the City under the subsidy agreement totaled $515,000. Principal payments
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NOTE 8

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BONDS AND NOTES PAYABLE (cont'd)

were due annually on October 15 until 2018. Interest on the unpaid principal balance
ranged from 1.65 percent to 4.45 percent and was payable on April 15 and October 15 until
the bonds matured. The 2004 Bonds were currently refunded in 2009,

On August 12, 2009, the County refunded the General Obligation Bonds, Series of 2004. The
principal amount of the 2009 Bonds attributable to the City under the original subsidy
agreement totaled $380,000. Principal payments were due annually on October 15 from
2010 through 2015, and 2019 through 2021. Interest on the unpaid principal balance
ranged from 2.0 percent to 3.75 percent and was payable on April 15 and October 15 until
the bonds matured. At December 31, 2013, the City’s outstanding principal balance on the
2009 Bonds was $215,000.

A scheduie of changes in short and long-term obligations is as follows: _
Due

Beginning Ending Within
Balance Increases Decreases Balance One Year
Governmental Activities
Short-term obligations:
Tax Revenue Anticipation

Note _ $ - $ 50,000 $ 50,000 S . $
Long-term obligations:

General Obligation Bonds,

Series of 2009 260,000 - 45,000 215,000 45,000
Compensated absences 43,782 3,624 - 47,406 -
Total Long-term Obligations 303,782 3,624 45,000 262,406 45,000
Total Obligations $ 303,782 $ 53,624 $ 95,000 $ 262,406 $ 45,000
An analysis of debt service requirements to maturity on the loans is as follows:

Year Ending Total

December 31, Principai Interest Maturities

2014 $ 45,000 $ 7,585 $ 52,585
2015 15,000 6,235 21,235
2016 - 5,785 5,785
2017 i - 5,785 5,785
2018 . - 5,785 5,785
2019-2021 155,000 10,598 165,598
Total $ 215,000 $ 41,773 $ 256,773

Bond payments are generally liquidated by the Debt Service Fund. Compensated absences
are generally liquidated by the General Fund.
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NOTE 9

NOTE 10

NOTE 11

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FUND BALANCE

As of December 31, 2013, fund balances are composed of the following:

Community Bridge
Development Over Non- Govern-
General  Block Grant HOME Norfolk  Redevel- major mental
Fund Fund Fund  South Fund opment Fund Funds

Nonspendable:

Prepaid items $ 92,802 § 1,025 § - $ - - $§ 1,025 $§ 94,852

Inventory 11,883 - - - - 11,883
Total Nonspendable 104,685 1,025 - 1,025 106,735
Restricted:

Public safety - 66,743 66,743

Public works 203 175,127 175,330

Culture and

recreation 379,174 379,174
Economic
development 197,334 47,203 - 33,660 297,736 575,933

Permanent - - - - 46,147 46,147
Total Restricted 197,334 47,203 203 33,660 964,927 1,243,327
Assigned:

2014 budget 991,094 991,094
Unassigned (Deficlt) 1,873,171 - (4,610) 1,868,561
Total Fund Balance $2,968,950 § 198,359 $§ 47,203 $ 203§ 33,660 $961,342 $4,209,717

NET INVESTMENT IN CAPITAL ASSETS

A schedule of net investment in capital assets as of December 31, 2013 is as follows:

Governmental Activities:
Total capital assets, net
Less: loans/bonds payable

Total Net Investment in Capital Assets

SELF-INSURED HEALTH BENEFITS

$ 55,056,055
215,000

$ 54,841,055

The City is exposed to risk of loss in the area of hedlth insurance benefits. The Internal Service
Fund is used fo account for the risk associated with heailth benefits. The City has elected to
retain a portion of the risk of loss from health benefit claims by reducing insurance coverage
10 obtain the benefits of reduced premium costs. The City changed its excess heaith benefits
risk insurance, effective August 1, 1998, for claim payments in excess of the individual stop-
loss and aggregate stop-loss deductible for the benefit determination period.
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NOTE 12

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SELF-INSURED HEALTH BENEFITS (cont'd)

The aggregate stop-loss deductible is the calculated annualized amount based on the
number of employees and dependents times the determination factors with a maximum of
$5,000,000 in aggregate claims covered by the plan of insurance. During 2013, the City
had approximately 151 participants in the plan. The individual stop-loss deductible for the
benefit determination period is $65,000 per employee with a maximum of $1,000,000 in
claims per individual covered by the plan of insurance.

The City maintains reserves for claims incurred and claims incurred but not reported as
estimated by the City using historical data and known claims.

The self-insured heaith benefits liability balance is based on the requirements of Statement of
Governmental Accounting Standards No. 10 (that was amended by Statement No. 20), which
requires that a liability for claims be reported if information prior to the issuance of financial
statements indicates that it is probable that a liability has been incurred at the date of the
financial statements and the amount of loss can be reasonably estimated.

The following summary provides aggregate information on the prior year health benefits self-
insurance liability, incurred claims, and payments during the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012 and the ending health benefits self-insurance liability at December 31, 2013
and 2012, recorded in the City's Internal Service Fund.

Year Ended Beginning insured Ending

December 31, Liability Claims Payments Liability
2013 $ 64,940 $ 1,567,513 $ 1,557,176 $ 75,277
2012 46,957 1,764,951 1,746,968 64,940

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS

The City participates in two defined benefit pension plans: the Police Pension Plan (“Police
Plan”) and the Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan (“Fire Plan”). The Police Plan, a single-employer
defined benefit plan, covers all full-time uniformed police officers. The Fire Plan, a single-
employer defined benefit plan, covers all full-time members of the fire department, excluding
the Fire Chief and his assistants. The City contributes to both plans.

The City administers the assets of the two single-employer defined benefit plans and,
accordingly, is required to prepare pension trust fund financial statements using the accrual
basis of accounting. Separate pension fund financial statements for each plan have not
been issued; accordingly, they are presented as required by GASB Statement No. 34, as
follows:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFINED BENEFIT PENSION PLANS (cont'd)

CITY OF LEBANON

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - PENSION TRUST FUNDS

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments :
Accounts receivable

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

LIABILITIES: _

Accounts payable

NET POSITION:

Assets held in trust for employee
pension benefits

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

\

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION - PENSION TRUST FUNDS

ADDITIONS
Contributions: }
Employer contribution
Employee contribution
Commonwealth
Total Contributions
Investment Income:
Interest and dividends
Net appreciation in fair vaiue
of investments
Total Investment iIncome
Less investment expense
Net Investment Income
TOTAL ADDITIONS

DEDUCTIONS
Administrative costs
Benefits paid
TOTAL DEDUCTIONS

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

December 31, 2013

Fire Police Totals
$ - $ 920,833 $ 920,833
6,347,862 14,159,572 20,507,434
- 25,049 25,049
S 6,347,862 $ 15,105,454 $ 21,453,316
$ - $ - $ -
6,347,862 15,105,454 21,453,316
$ 6,347,862 $ 15,105,454 $ 21,453,316
For the Year Ended December 31, 2013
Fire Police Totals
$ 14,407 $ 430,403 $" 444,810
53,761 136,559 190,320
88,463 543,810 632,273
156,631 1,110,772 1,267,403
11,495 329,425 340,920
832,976 1,826,032 2,659,008
844,47 2,155,457 2,999,928
23,084 89,288 112,372
821,387 2,066,169 2,887,556
978,018 3,176,941 4,154,959
- 2,772 2,772
337,078 951,682 1,288,760
337,078 954,454 1,291,532
640,940 2,222,487 2,863,427
5,706,922 12,882,967 18,589,889
$ 6,347,862 $ 15,105,454 $ 21,453,316

NET POSITION, END OF YEAR
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NOTE 13

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAID FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN

Plan Description and Provisions

The Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan (“Fire Plan”) was established in accordance with the Third
Class City Code and State statutes. All full-time members of the fire department, excluding
the Fire Chief and his assistants, join the Fire Plan upon employment. The Fire Plan is reported
as a Pension Trust Fund in the City’s financial statements.

A participant in the Fire Plan is eligible for normal retirement after attainment of age 50 and
20 years of service, or 25 years of vesting service if hired on or after July 1, 1972. Relirees’
base pension amounts are equal to 50 percent of their average monthly compensation. In
addition to the base pension amount, a service increment for each full year of service in
excess of 20 years worked prior to age 65 is included in the retiree’s pension amount. The
increment is equal to 1.25 percent of each retiree’s average pay, with an annual maximum
of $1,200. ‘

Basis of Accounting

The plan’s policy is to prepare ifs financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting.
Plan member contributions are recognized in the period on which the contributions are due.
The City’s contributions are recognized when due and a formal commitment to provide the
contributions has been made. Benefits and refunds are recognized when paid in
accordance with the terms of the plan.

Valuation of Investments

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 25, investments are reported at fair value. Short-
term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value. Securities traded on a
national or international exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current
exchange rates.

Membership

Fire Plan membership as of January 1, 2013, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, is
presented below: ‘

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 22
Terminated employees entitled to death benefits 2
Active employees , 20
Total i 44
Contributions

Members of the Fire Plan are required to contribute five percent of their pay, plus $1 per
month. The City makes contributions of the Fire Plan equal to the amount required by State
statutes. The City’s contributions to the Fire Plan are governed by Act 205, the Municipal
Pension Plan Funding Standard and Recovery Act, which mandates minimum actuarial
funding pension plans.
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NOTE 13

CITY OF LEBANON

!
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS \

PAID FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN (cont'd)
Administrative Costs

Administrative costs, including the investment manager, custodial trustee, and actuarial
services, are charged and paid by investment earnings of the plan.

Actuarial Assumptions

The City has an actuarial valuation for the Fire Plan prepared on a biennial basis. The date of
the latest actuarial valuation is January 1, 2013. The following methods and assumptions -
were used to prepare the valuation:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal cost
Asset valuation method Five-year smoothing of gains and losses not to be
' greater than 120% or less than 80% of market
value
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 8.0%
Projected salary increases 5.0%
Cost-of-living increase 4.0%
Amortization method Level Dollar, Closed
Remaining amortization period 12 years

Annual Pension Cost qnd Net Pension Obligation

The three-year trend information for the Fire Plan is as foliows:

Annual Percentage Net Pension
Pension of APC Obligation
Fiscal Year Ended Cost (APC) Contributed (Asset)
12/31/2013 - $ 102,870 100.00% $ -
12/31/2012 $ 97,758 100.00% $ -
12/31/2011 $ 177,369 100.00% $ -

The negative events in the credit market, as well as the general economic conditions in the
United States and worldwide have caused a significant decrease in investment values, either
directly invested or tied to the equity markets. These declines, at present, are expected to be
temporary and not permanent declines; however, equity market recovery, if it occurs, may
take some time. The major resulting impact of the equity market's decline on the City will be
in the form of increased annual required contributions and increased pension expense with
respect fo the Fire Plan.
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NOTE 14

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PAID FIREMEN'S PENSION PLAN (cont'd)

Funding Status and Progress

The funded status of the Fire Plan as of the most recent actuarial valuation date is as follows:

m @ (3) @ ) (6)

Unfunded

Unfunded (assets in

(assets in excess of)

. excess of) Accrued

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial Percentage Accrued Annual Liabilily as a %

Valuation Value of Accrued Funded Liability Covered of Payroll
Date Assets Liabillity (1/(2) (2)-(1) Payroll (4)/(5)

1/1/2013 $5,689,875 $6,681,630 85.16% $991,755 $1,362,400 72.80%

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information (“RSI”)
following the notes to the financial statements, presents mulliyear trend information about
whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to
the actuarial liability for benefits.

The above information regarding the Fire Plan was taken from the January 1, 2013 Actuarial
Valuation presented by Beyer-Barber Company, signed by Lawrence C. Brisman, dated July
31, 2013.

POLICE PENSION PLAN

Plan Description and Provisions

The Police Pension Pian (“Police Plan”) was established in accordance with the Third Class City
Code and State statutes. Al full-time members of the police force join the Police Plan upon
employment. The Police Plan is reported as a Pension Trust Fund in the City's financial
statements,

For members hired prior to July 11, 1966, participants were eligible for normal retirement after
20 years of vesting service. For members hired after July 11, 1966, participants are eligible
for normal retirement after age 50 and 25 years of vesting service. Retirees’ base pension
amounts are equal to 50 percent of their average pay. A service increment is added to the
base pension amount for each year of service in excess of 20 years worked and prior o age
65. The increment is equal to 1.25 percent of the retiree’s average pay with an annual
maximum of $1,200. The minimum monthly pension amount is $250. Under an annual cost-
of-living provision, members who retire on or after January 1, 1999 receive cost-of-living
increases of up to 10 percent of the initial pension.
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NOTE 14

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POLICE PENSION PLAN (cont'd)

Disabled employees are entitled to receive disability benefits equal to 50 percent of average
monthly compensation, reduced by the amount of any worker's compensation received.
Surviving spouses of employees hired on or after March 1, 1978 receive death benefits based
onh 100 percent of the retirees pension benefit.

Basis of Accounting

The plan’s policy is to prepare Its financial statements on the accrual basis of accounting.
Plan member contributions are recognized in the period on which the contributions are due.
The City's contributions are recognized when due and a formal commitment to provide the
contributions has been made. Benefits and refunds are recognized when paid in
accordance with the terms of the plan.

Valuation of Investments

In accordance with GASB Statement No. 25, investments are reported at fair value. Shori-
term investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair vaiue. Securities traded ona
national or infernational exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current
exchange rates.

Membership

Police Plan membership as of January 1, 2013, the date of the latest actuarial valuation, is
presented below:

Retirees and beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 50
Terminated employees entitled to death benefits 2
Active employees 41
Total 93
Contributions

Members of the Police Plan are required to contribute five percent of their pay, plus $1 per
month. The City makes contributions of the Police Plan equal to the amount required by State
statutes. The City’s contributions to the Police Plan are governed by Act 205, the Municipal
Pension Plan Funding Standard, and Recovery Act, which mandates minimum actuarial
funding pension plans.

Administrative Costs

Administrative costs, including the investment manager, custodial trustee, and actuarial
services, are charged and paid by investment earnings of the plan.

Actuarial Assumptions

The City has an actuarial valuation for the Police Plan prepared on a biennial basis. The date
of the latest actuarial valuation is January 1, 2013. The following methods and assumptions
were used to prepare the valuation:
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POLICE PENSION PLAN (cont'd)

Actuarial cost method , ’ Entry age normal cost
Asset valuation method

vaiue
Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return 8.0%
Projected salary increases 5.0%
Cost-of-living increase 4.0%
Amortization method Level Dollar, Closed
Remaining amortization period 14 years

Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation

The three-year trend information for the Police Plan is as follows:

Annual Percentage

Pension of APC
Fiscal Year Ended Cost (APC) Contributed
12/31/2013 § 974,213 _ 100.00%
12/31/2012 $ 818,503 100.00%
12/31/2011 $ 834,634 100.00%

Five-year smoothing of gains and losses not fo be
greater than- 120% or less than 80% of market

Net Pension
Obligation

(Asset)

$ ;
$ ;
$

The negative events in the credit market, as well as the general economic conditions in the
United States and worldwide have caused a significant decrease in investment values, either
directly invested or tied to the equity markets. These declines, at present, are expected to be
temporary and not permanent declines; however, equity market recovery, if it occurs, may
take some time. The major resuiting impact of the equity market’s decline on the City will be
in the form of increased annual required contributions and increased pension expense with

respect to the Police Plan.

Funding Status and Progress

The funded status of the Police Plan as of the most recent actuarial vailuation date is as

follows:
M @ 3) 4 ()
Unfunded
Unfunded (assets in
(assetsin - excess of)
excess of) Accrued
Aciuarial Actuarial Actuarial Percentage Accrued Liability as a %
Valuation Value of Accrued Funded Liability Covered of Payroll
Date Assets Liabiity (1)/(2) (2)-(1) {(4)/(5)
1/1/2013 $12,920,518 $18,127,703 71.27% $5,207,185 $2,612,769 199.30%
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NOTE 15

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POLICE PENSION PLAN (conf'd)

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information (“RSI”)
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about
whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to
the actuarial liability for benefits. :

The above information regarding the Police Plan was taken from the January 1; 2013'
Actuarial Valuation presented by Conrad Siegal Actuaries, signed by David H. Killick, F.S.A.,
dated March 19, 2014. S

POST-EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Plan Description

The City has implemenied Governmential Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 45,
"Accounting and Financial Reporting by Employers for Post-employment Benefits Other Than
Pensions," for certain post-employment healthcare benefits and life insurance benefits
provided by the City. This statement generally provides for prospective implementation - i.e.,
that employers set the beginning net OPEB obligation at zero as of the beginning of the initial
year. Accordingly, for financial reporting purposes, no liability is reported for the post-
employment benefits liability at the date of transition.

The City administers a single-employer post-employment benefit plan (“Plan”) that covers
health and life insurance benefits for eligible refirees. Groups of retirees who are eligible for
other post-employment benefits are policemen, firemen, Ametican Federation of State,
County, and Municipal Empioyees (‘AFSCME”), and management employees. The plan does
not issue any financial report and is not included in the report of any public employee
retirement system or any other entity,

The contribution requirements of plan members are established and may be amended by
resolution of the City Council. The Plan does not require any contributions from Police and
Fire Plan members. AFSCME and management retirees are required to contribute at the
same rate paid twice monthly by active employees. '

Because retirees are permitted to participate in the Plan at the blended group (implicitly
subsidized) premium rates for both active and retired employees, their current and future
claims are expected to result in higher costs to the Plan on average than those of active
employees. Therefore, the City’s contributions 1o the Plan for 2013 and 2012 were estimated
by the actuary using an implicit rate subsidy for retirees.

Funding Policy

GASB Statement No. 45 does not mandate the prefunding of the post-employment benefits
liability. The City currently funds these benefits on a pay-as-you-go basis. No assets have
been segregated and restricted to provide post-employment benefits.
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POST-EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS (cont'd)

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions

Actuarial valuations involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of events far into the future, and that actuarially determined amounts
are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared to past expectations and
new estimates are made about the future.

Calculations are based on the benefits provided under the terms of the substantive plan in
effect at the time of each valuation and on the pattern of sharing of costs between the
employer and the plan members to that point. The projection of benefits for financial
reporting purposes does not explicitly incorporate the potential effects of legal or contractual
funding limitation on the pattern of cost sharing between the employer and plan members in

the future.

Actuarial calculations reflect a long-term perspective. Consistent with that perspective,
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce
short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets.

The following methods and assumptions were used to prepare the valuation:-

)

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal cost
Asset valuation method Equal to the market value of assets
Actuarial assumptions:
Interest rate 4.5%
Projected salary increases 5.0%
Healthcare cost trend rate 7.0% in 2013, decreasing by 0.5% per year fo
5.5% in 2016
Percent of Eligible Retirees 100% of police and paid firemen and 50% of

AFSCME and management employees are
: . assumed to elect coverage
Amortization method Level Dollar, 30-year open period

Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation

The City's annual other post-employment benefit cost (expense) is calculated based on the
annual required contribution of the employer ("ARC"), an amount actuarially determined in
accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level of
funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal costs each year and
amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess) over a period not to exceed 30
years. The following table shows the components of the City's OPEB cost for the year, the
amount actually contributed to the plan, and changes in the City's net OPEB obligation to the
plan,
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POST-EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS (cont'd)

2013 2012 2011

Annual required contribution $2,036,710 $ 2,036,710 § 2,325,489
Interest on OPEB obligation _ 308,445 253,122 186,992
Adjustment to annual required contribution (420,798) (345,322) (255,105)
Annual OPEB cost (expense) 1,924,357 1,944,510 2,257,376
Contributions made (722,022) (715,087) (787,835)
increase in het OPEB obligation 1,202,335 1,229,423 1,469,541

Net OPEB obligation, beginning of year 6,854,347 5,624,924 4,155,383
Net OPEB obligation, end of year $ 8,056,682 §$ 6,854,347 § 5,624,924

The City's annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed fo the Plan and

the net OPEB obligation through fiscal year 2013 are as follows:

Percentage
of Annual
Annual OPEB Cost
Fiscal Year Ended OPEB Cost Contributed
2013 $ 1,924,357 37.52%
2012 $ 1,944,510 36.78%
2011 $ 2,257,376 34.90%

Funding Status and Progress

Net OPEB
Obligation

$ 8,056,682
$ 6,854,347
$ 5,624,924

The funded status of the Plan as of the most recent actuarial valuation date is as follows:

M 2 ©) (4 O] (6

: Unfunded

(assets in

excess of)

: Unfunded Accrued

Actuarial Actuarial Actuarial AAL Funded Annual Liability as a %

Valuation Value of Accrued (UAAL) Ratio Covered of Payroll
Daie Assets Liability 2-(1 (1/(2) Payroll (3)/(5)

1/1/2012 $0 $21,131,960 $21,131,960 0.00% $5,032,844 419.88%
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CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POST-EMPLOYMENT RETIREMENT BENEFITS (coni’d)

The schedule of funding progress, presented as required supplementary information (“RSI”)
following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend information about
whether the actuarial values of plan assets are increasing or decreasing over time relative to
the actuarial liability for benefits.

The above information regarding the Plan was taken from the January 1, 2011 Actuarial
Valuation presented by Conrad Siegal Actuaries, signed by David H. Killick, F.S.A., dated

November 30, 2012.

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The City is exposed to various cases and legal actions arising in the ordinary course of
business. In the opinion of management’s and City’s legal counsel, the ultimate outcome will
not have a material adverse effect on the City’s financial position.

The City receives federal, state, and local funding through a number of programs. Payments
made by these sources under contractual agreements are provisional and subject to
redetermination based on filing reports and audits of those reports. Final setlements due
from or to these sources are recorded in the year in which the related services are
performed. Any adjustiments resulting from subsequent examinations are recognized in the
year in which the results of such examinations become known. City officials do not expect
any significant adjustments as a result of these examinations.

The City is committed to capital projects for the construction of a bridge and other projects.
Anticipated construction commitments are as follows:

Retainage
Project Completed to Payable
Project Amount 12/31/13 at 12/31/13
Coleman Park Renovations $ 727,021 $ 727,021 $ 28,662

In addition, there were additional costs incurred through December 31, 2013 for projects that
were not under formal commitments totaling $26,259.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to theft and destruction of assets, errors and
omissions, and natural disasters. The City has purchased various insurance policies to
safeguard its assets from risk of loss. There has been no significant change in coverage, and
there have been no losses above insurance limits during the past year or the three prior

years.
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NOTE 19

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DEFICIT FUND BALANCES

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Main Street Contribution Fund, a non-major
governmental fund, had a deficit fund balance of $4,506, which resuited primarily from
revenues being insufficient to cover expenditures. It is anticipated that this deficit will be
eliminated through revenues exceeding expenditures in future years.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Public Works Contribufion Fund, a non-major
governmental fund, had a deficit fund balance of $104, which resulted primarily from
revenues being insufficient o cover expenditures. It is anticipated that this deficit will be
eliminated through revenues exceeding expenditures in future years.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 8, 2014, the City issued Tax and Revenue Anticipation Note, Series 2014, in the
amount of $1,000,000. The purchaser of the Note was Metro Bank. The Note is to be used for
current expenses and is secured by a security interest in the taxes and other revenues of the
City that are expected fo be received during the period when the Note is outstanding.
Interest accrues at an annual rate equal to 66.3 percent of the Wall Street Journal prime rate.

The City has evaluated all subsequent events through August 26, 2014, the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.
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CITY OF LEBANON
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS ~ PENSION PLANS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Ten-year historical trend information about the plans is presented herewith as required supplementary
information. It is intended to help users assess the plans’ funding status on a going-concern basis,
assess progress made in accumulating assets to pay benefits when due, and make comparisons with
other state and local government retirement systems.

The actuarial information is required by Act 205 biennially, except for distressed pension plans, which
require annual reporting. The ten-year historical information required to be disclosed, beginning as of

January 1, 2004, is as follows:

(1) (2) (3) 4) (5) (6)
Unfunded
Unfunded (assets irfl)
. . . ts i excess O
Actual:lal Actuarial Actuarial Percentage S‘::: : :f‘) Annual Accrued
Valuation [ Value of Accrued Funded Accrued Covered Liability
Date Assets Liability (HI2) Liability Payroll as a % of
(2)-(1) Payroli
(4)(5)
PAID FIREMEN’S PENSION PLAN
1/1 /04 k% *% kk *k % *%
1/1/05 5,280,171 4,999,630 105.61% (280,541) 744,485 -37.68%
1/1/06 s » - - - -
1/1/07 6,031,601 5,448,058 110.71% (583,543) 830,694 -70.25%
1/1 /08 ok *% *% k% *K *%
1/1/09 5,665,822 6,071,932 93.31% 406,110 916,015 44.33%
1/1/10 ** ** * o o o
1/1/11 5,879,617 6,204,585 94.76% 325,068 948,392 34.28%
1112 i ** i b wk wk
1/1/13 5,689,875 6,681,630 85.16% 991,755 1,362,400 72.80%

* The AAL was significantly changed due to a change in the asset valuation method used for the
January 1, 2009 actuarial valuation. Effective for the January 1, 2009 valuation, the asset valuation
method was changed fo a five-year smoothing of gains and losses not to be greater than 130
percent or less than 70 percent of market value. In prior years, the asset valuation method used was
the market value as determined by the trustee.

** Not available due to biennially required Act 205 report.
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Ten-year historical trend information about the plan is presented herewith as required supplementary \
information. It is infended to help users assess the plan's funding status on a going-concern basis,
assess progress made in accumulating assefs to pay benefits when due and make comparisons with

CITY OF LEBANON

SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS — PENSION PLANS

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

other state and local government retirement systems.

The actuarial information is required by Act 205 biennially, except for distressed pension plans, which
require annual reporting. The ten-year historical information required to be disclosed, beginning as of

January 1, 2004, is as follows:

(1) (2) (3) (4) (5) (6)
Unfunded
Unfunded (assets in
i eSS 0
Actuafial Actuarial Actuarial Percentage éii:i:s c;?) Annual exzcruedf)
Valuation Value of Accrued Funded Accrued Covered Liability
Date Assets Liability (H2) Liability Payroll as a % of
(2)-(1) Payroll
(4)/(5)
POLICE PENSION PLAN
1/1 /04 *% *K ** *% ek *%
1/1/05 9,727,360 14,109,908 68.94% 4,382,548 2,264,266 193.55%
1/1 /06 *¥k *% *% *k *% "k
1/1/07 10,633,266 15,329,416 69.37% 4,696,150 2,463,065 190.66%
1/1/08 ' ok wk k% *k *k *k
1/1/09 11,355,670 16,186,577 70.15% 4,830,907 2,516,550 191.97%
1/1/10 *x il **x ¥ *% ke
111711 12,029,346 17,977,486 66.91% 5,948,140 2,452,990 242.49%
11112 - = o - - "
1113 12,920,518 18,127,703 71.27% 5,207,185 2,612,769 199.30%

* The AAL was significantly changed due to a change in the asset valuation method used for the
January 1, 2009 actuarial valuation. Effective for the January 1, 2009 valuation, the asset valuation
method was changed to a five-year smoothing of gains and losses not to be greater than 130
percent or less than 70 percent of market value. In prior years, the asset valuation method used was

the market value as determined by the trustee.

** Not available due to biennially required Act 205 report.
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CITY OF LEBANON

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER CONTRIBUTIONS — PENSION PLANS

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Employer Contributions
Paid Firemen’s Pension Fund Police Pension Fund
Year Annual Required Percent Annual Required Percent
Ended Contribution Contributed Contribution Contributed
12/31/2006 $ 90,917 100.00% $ 626,418 100.00%
12/31/2007 . 94,175 100.00% 640,274 100.00%
12/31/2008 112,004 100.00% 650,940 100.00%
12/31/2009 117,357 100.00% 823,905 100.00%
12/31/2010 106,388 100.00% 827,932 100.00%
12/31/2011 177,369 100.00% 834,634 100.00%
12/31/2012 97,758 100.00% 818,503 100.00%
12/31/2013 102,870 100.00% 974,213 100.00%
POST-EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS .
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Actuarial Actuarial UAAL as a
Actuarial Value of Accrued Unfunded AAL | Funded Covered Percentage of
Valuation Assets Liability (AAL) (UAAL) Ratio Payroll Covered Payroll
Date (a) (b) (b-a) (a/b) (c) {b-a)/(c)
1/1/2008 $ - | $ 19,346,072 | $ 19,346,072} 0.00% | $ 5,025,566 384.95%
1/1 /2009 *k *% *k *%k *% ok
1/1/2010 - 22,857,486 22,857,486 | 0.00% 5,180,346 441.23%
1/1 /201 1 ok *%k ki sk *k *%
1/1/2012 - 21,131,960 21,131,960 | 0.00% 5,032,844 419.88%
1/1 /201 3 *k ok *%k *& . *% *%
** Not available due to biennial valuation.
POST-EMPLOYMENT HEALTH CARE BENEFITS
SCHEDULE OF ANNUAL EMPLOYER COST
Annual Forcentage of Net OPEB
Year Ended OPEB Cost Cost Contributed Obligation
12/31/2008 $ 1,923,971 31.00% $ 1,531,034
12/31/2009 1,923,971 33.00% . 2,573,985
12/31/2010 2,282,805 36.78% 4,155,383
12/31/2011 2,257,376 39.90% 5,624,924
12/31/2012 1,944,510 36.78% 6,854,347
12/31/2013 1,924,357 37.52% 8,056,682
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CITY OF LEBANON
NOTES TO REQUI?ED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

The information presented in the required supplementary schedules was determined as part of the
actuarial valuation at the date indicated. Additional information as of the Iatest actuarial vaiuation

[ [

[

[NV

[

date foliows:

Actuarial cost method
Asset valuation method

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return
Projected salary increases
Cost-of-living increase

Amorttization method

Remaining amortization period

Actuarial cost method

‘Asset valuation method

Actuarial assumptions:
Interest rate
Projected salary increases
Healthcare cost trend rate
Percent of eligible retirees

Amortization method

Paid Firemen’s Pension Plan

Police Pension Plan

Entry age normal cost

Five-year smoothing of gains -

and losses not to be greater
than 120% or less than 80%
of market value

8.0%

5.0%

4.0%

Level Dollar, Closed
12 years

Entry age normal cost
Five-year smoothing of gains
and losses not to be greater
than 120% or less than 80%
of market value

8.0%

5.0%

4.0%

Level Dollar, Closed
14 years

Other Post-employment Benefits

Entry age normal cost

Equal to the market value of assets

4.5%
5.0%

7.0% in 2013, decreasing by 0.5% per vear to 5.5% in 2016
100% of police and paid firemen and 50% of AFSCME and
management employees are assumed to elect coverage

Level Doliar, 30-year open petiod
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ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Accounts receivable

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION
Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable

TOTAL LIABILITIES

NET POSITION
Assets held in trust for pension benefits

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

CITY OF LEBANON
COMBINING STATEMENT OF NET POSITION - FIDUCIARY FUNDS
DECEMBER 31, 2013

Paid Firemen's

Pension

$

6,347,862

Police
Pension

6,347,862

$ 920,833

14,159,572

25,049

$ 15,105,454

6,347,862

6,347,862

15,105,454
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$ 15,105,454

Total

$ 920,833
20,507,434
25,049

8 21453316

|

21,453,316

$ 21,453,316

|
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ADDITIONS
Contributions:
Employee
Employer
Commonwealth
Total Contributions
INVESTMENT INCOME
interest and dividends
Net appreciation in fair value of investments
Total Investment Income
Less investment expenses
Net Investment Income
TOTAL ADDITIONS
DEDUCTIONS:
Administrative costs
Retirement benefits
TOTAL DEDUCTIONS
CHANGE IN NET POSITION
NET POSITION, BEGINNING OF YEAR

NET POSITION END OF YEAR

CITY OF LEBANON
COMBINING STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET POSITION - FIDUCIARY FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013

Paid Firemen's Police
Pension Pension Total

$ 53,761 $ 136,559 $ 190,320
14,407 430,403 444,810
88,463 543,810 632,273
156,631 1,110,772 1,267,403
11,495 329,425 "340,920
832,976 1,826,032 2,659,008
844,471 2,155,457 2,999,028
23,084 89,288 112,372
821,387 2,066,169 2,887,556
978,018 3,176,941 4,154,959
- 2,772 2,772
337,078 951,682 1,288,760
337,078 054,454 1,291,532
640,940 2,222,487 2,863,427
5,706,922 12,882,967 18,589,889
$ 6,347,862 $ 21,453,316
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Barbacane, Thornton & Company LLP
200 Springer Building

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S 3411 Silverside Road
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL Wilmington, Delaware 19810
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON T 302.478.8940
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED F 302,468.4001
ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS wwwbtcpa.com

PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

August 26, 2014

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, Pennsylvania

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Governmental Auditing
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the
governmental activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City
of Lebanon, Lebanon, Pennsylvania as of and for the year ended December 31, 2013, and the
related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the basic financial statements of
the City of Lebanon (the "City"), and have issued our report thereon dated August 26, 2014,

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Lebanon'’s
infernal control over financial reporting (“internal control”) to determine the audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City's internal control.

A deficiency in internal conirol exists when the desigh or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent,
or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or
combingation of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a
material misstatement of the City's financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and
corrected, on a fimely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of
deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to
merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify
any deficiencies in internal control that we consider o be material weaknesses. However, material
weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

BARBACANE
THORNION
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To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Lebanon

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Lebanon’s financial statements
are free of material misstaiement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of iaws,
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and
material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion
on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not
express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of honcompliance or other
matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely o describe the scope of our testing of internal controls and
compliance and the resuits of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the
City’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control and
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Bnidcane Thainits, # ooy LLP

BARBACANE, THORNTON & COMPANY LLP
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Barbacane, Thornton & Company LLP
: 200 Springer Building
3411 Silverside Road

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S Wilmington, Delaware 19810
REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH T302.478.8940
MAJOR PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL F 302.468.4001
OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY www.btcpa.com

OMB CIRCULAR A-133

August 26, 2014

To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Lebanon
Lebanon, Pennsylvania

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited the City of Lebanon’s compliance with the types of compliance requirements
described in the OMB Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material
effect on each of the City of Lebanon’s major federal programs for the year ended December 31,
2013. The City of Lebanon's major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results
section of the accompanying schedule of findings and recommendations.

Management's Re_spons_i_bility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grants applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility Is o express an opinion on compliance for each of the City of Lebanon’s major
federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133,
“‘Audits of States, Local Governments and Non-Profit Organizations.” Those standards and OMB Circular
A-133 require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above that could have a
direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence about the City of Lebanon’s compliance with those requirements and performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major
federal program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Lebanon's
compliance.

BARBACANE
THORNTON
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To the Honorable Mayor and City Council
City of Lebanon

Opinion on Each Mdaijor Federal Program

In our opinion, the City of Lebanon complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major
federal programs for the year ended December 31, 2013.

Reportt on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of the City of Lebanon is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal
control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred fo above. In planning
and performing our audit of compliance, we considered the City of Lebanon’s internal control over -
compliance with the types of requirements that could have a direct and material effect on each
major federal program fo determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major federal
program, and to test and report on infernal control over compliance in accordance with OMB
Circular A-133, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control
over compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of
Lebanon's internal control over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their
assigned functions, fo prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in infernal control over
compliance is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such
that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely
basis. A significant deficiency in internal conirol over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination
of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in infernal control over compliance, yet
important enough o merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses.
However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our

testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of
OMB Circular A-133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Onedcane it § Gopons, LLP

BARBACANE, THORNTON & COMPANY LL
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CITY OF LEBANON

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

PART A - SUMMARY OF AUDITOR'S RESULTS

Financial Statements

Type of auditor's report issued [unmodified, qualified, adverse, or disclaimer]:

Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

o  Material weakness(es) identified?

+  Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

. Noncompliance material o financial
statements noted?

Federal Awards

Internal control over major programs:
e  Material weakness(es) identified?
¢  Significant deficiency(ies) identified?

Yes X _ No

Yes X __ None reported
Yes X No

—_ Yes _X_No
Yes X__ None reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for major programs [unmodified, qualified, adverse, or

disclaimer]:

Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are
required to be reported in accordance
with Section 510(a) of OMB Circular A-133?

Identification of major programs:

CFDA Numbers

14.218

20.205

Dollar threshold used to distinguish between
Type A and Type B programs:

Auditee qudlified as low-risk auditee?

-74-

Yes X __ No

Name of Federal Program or Cluster

Community Development Block Grants/
Entitlement Grants

Highway Planning and Construction

$300,000

Yes X __No
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NOTE A

NOTE B

CITY OF LEBANON

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The City uses the modified accrtjal method of recording fransactions. Revenues are
recorded when measurable and available. Expenditures are recorded when incurred.

FEDERAL EXPENDITURES

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards reflects federal expenditures for all
individual grants which were active during the fiscal year.
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